INVESTIGATING THE EFFECTS OF EXERCISE ON INITIATION OF NITROSOMETHYLUREA INDUCED MAMMARY TUMORIGENESIS IN YOUNG RATS

by

Karen Whittal B.Sc., University of Victoria, 1990

THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF Ph.D.

in the Department of Kinesiology

© Karen Whittal 1996 SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY August 1996

All rights reserved. This work may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means, without permission of the author.

APPROVAL

NAME:Karen WhittalDEGREE:Doctor of PhilosophyTITLE OF THESIS:Investigating the Effects of Exercise on Initiation of
Nitrosomethylurea Induced Mammary Tumorigenesis in
Young Rats

EXAMINING COMMITTEE:

Chair:

Dr. David Goodman

Dr. Wade Parkhouse Senior Supervisor Professor, School of Kinesiology

Dr. Miriam Rosin Professor, School of Kinesiology

Dr. Joanne Emerman Professor, Department of Anatomy University British Columbia

Dr. Margo Moore Internal Examiner Assistant Professor, Biological Sciences

> Dr. Clement Ip External Examiner Roswell Park Cancer Institute Buffalo, New York

Date Approved:

Aug 14/96

PARTIAL COPYRIGHT LICENSE

I hereby grant to Simon Fraser University the right to lend my thesis, project or extended essay (the title of which is shown below) to users of the Simon Fraser University Library, and to make partial or single copies only for such users or in response to a request from the library of any other university, or other educational institution, on its own behalf or for one of its users. I further agree that permission for multiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes may be granted by me or the Dean of Graduate Studies. It is understood that copying or publication of this work for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

Title of Thesis/Project/Extended Essay
Investigating the effects of exercise on
initiation of nitrosomethylurea induced mammary
tumorigènesis in young rats

Author:__

(signature)

(name)

August 15, 1996

Abstract

It has been suggested by epidemiological studies that exercise during the college years decreases the risk of breast cancer. The susceptibility of the mammary gland to carcinogenic attack depends on many factors including: 1) developmental stage of the mammary gland; 2) proliferation rate of epithelial cells; and 3) DNA damage. The purpose of this thesis was to assess the effects of exercise in young female Sprague Dawley rats on mammary gland development, carcinogen distribution, binding and damage, and subsequent tumor development.

Rats were run on motorized treadmills for four weeks (from twenty one to fifty days of age). Exercise had no effect on mammary gland development, although exercise significantly increased the proliferation rate of the mammary gland epithelial cells. The increased proliferation rate did not affect the amount of Nitrosomethylurea (NMU)- induced DNA damage as indicated by the nick translation assay. Increasing the amount of NMU injected (25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg) resulted in a dose response in terms of NMU in both the liver and serum. This relationship was apparent at the mammary gland DNA level. However, DNA damage did not increase with increasing doses of NMU. When individual glands were examined, abdominal mammary glands had a lower incorporation of NMU than thoracic or inguinal glands for any concentration of NMU. Of particular interest was the finding that DNA damage was also significantly lower in the abdominal mammary glands.

We tested the effects of exercise prior to carcinogen administration on subsequent tumor development at two doses of NMU. At the higher dose (50 mg/kg) exercise significantly lowered the tumor multiplicity. However at the lower dose (37.5 mg/kg) this effect was

ш

not seen. At either dose there was no effect on incidence or latency. At a dose of 37.5 mg/kg, exercise significantly increased the growth rate and final tumor weights. Due to these differences in growth rates and final tumor weights we assessed the amount of insulin-like growth factor I receptor and estrogen receptor proteins in exercised and sedentary tumors as well as in normal mammary gland tissue. There was a significant increase in the content of both receptors in the tumors relative to the normal tissue. There was a significant difference in receptor content between tumors derived from exercised and sedentary rats when expressed per milligram tissue. This difference was lost when the receptor content was expressed per microgram protein.

This thesis suggests that exercise prior to carcinogen administration does effect tumor outcome in a somewhat dose dependent manner. Although exercise increases the proliferation rate of mammary epithelial cells there is no effect on DNA damage or final tumor outcome. This suggests that other mechanisms must compensate for the increased proliferation.

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to the fight against breast cancer.

.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Wade Parkhouse for his support and for understanding my wanting to undertake this project. I gained a vast amount of knowledge during my time in his lab. I would also like to thank Dr. Joanne Emerman and Dr. Miriam Rosin for their insight and support.

Pip, Ryan, Steve, Silia, Louie and Kim, thanks for making the sometimes mundane hours in the lab go by quickly with laughter. Silia, thank you for sharing your knowledge. Also thank you to all the folks at animal care who made my job much easier.

Shona, you are a godsend to any graduate student, we couldn't do it without you. Shona, Fiona, Laurie, Marianne and Thelma- I enjoy coming into the office and seeing your smiling faces and knowing there is always someone to talk to.

To my Mom and Dad, Diane and Bryan, and my sister Martine I want to say thank you for never questioning why, for always supporting me and loving me. To Quilla, Phil, Mike and Barb, my new family who have treated me as one of their own-thank you. And to Kevin, thanks for being there at the end of the day, filling my world with laughter.

Table of Contents

.

Approval
Abstract III
DEDICATIONV
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTS
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLESXIV
CHAPTER I REVIEW OF LITERATURE 1
1.1 HISTOPATHOLOGY OF BREAST CANCER
1.2 EPIDEMIOLOGY AND RISK FACTORS
1.3 ETIOLOGY OF BREAST CANCER
1.4 NATURAL HISTORY OF BREAST CANCER
1.5 DIAGNOSIS AND STAGING SYSTEMS
1.6 PROGNOSTIC FACTORS OF BREAST CANCER
1.7 MANAGEMENT/TREATMENT OF BREAST CANCER
1.8 Animal models for mammary carcinogenesis
1.9 Nitrosomethylurea (NMU)
1.10 DNA damage and DNA repair
1.11 SUSCEPTIBILITY TO CARCINOGENIC ATTACK
1.12 MAMMARY GLAND ANATOMY AND DEVELOPMENT
1.13 HORMONES AND MAMMARY GLAND DEVELOPMENT
1.14 Exercise and menarche
1.15 Exercise and hormones
1.16 EXERCISE AND BREAST CANCER

· · ·

1.17 Insulin-like growth factor 1	27
1.18 INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTOR 1 RECEPTOR.	28
1.19 Estrogen	31
1.20 Estrogen receptor	33
1.21 RATIONALE	34
1.22 JUSTIFICATION OF MODEL	34
CHAPTER II EXPERIMENTAL STRATEGY	36
CHAPTER III EFFECTS OF EXERCISE DURING PUBERTY ON	
MAMMARY GLAND DEVELOPMENT AND MAMMARY EPITHELIAL	
CELL PROLIFERATION	37
3.1 INTRODUCTION	37
3.2 Methods	39
3.2.1 Animals	39
3.2.2 Exercise protocol	39
3.2.3 Tissue sampling	41
3.2.4 Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) Labeling Index	41
3.2.5 Whole Mounts	42
3.2.6 Prolactin assay	43
3.2.8 Statistical analysis	43
3.3 Results	44
3.4 DISCUSSION	50
CHAPTER IV NITROSOMETHYLUREA DISTRIBUTION, BINDING AN	D
INDUCED DNA DAMAGE	53
4.1 INTRODUCTION	53
4.2 METHODS	55

4.2.1 Animals 55
4.2.2 NMU preparation and administration 55
4.2.3 Tissue collection
4.2.4 DNA isolation
4.2.5 Liver 57
4.2.6 Serum
4.2.7 Epithelial cell isolation 58
4.2.8 Nick translation assay 58
4.2.9 Statistical analysis 59
4.3 Results 59
4.4 DISCUSSION
4.5 Appendix
4.5.1 Calculating nmoles NMU/mg DNA
4.5.2 CALCULATING NMOLES NMU/G LIVER
4.5.3 CALCULATING NM NMU IN SERUM
CHAPTER V THE EFFECTS OF TREADMILL RUNNING DURING
PUBERTY ON SUBSEQUENT NMU INDUCED MAMMARY
TUMORIGENESIS82
5.1 INTRODUCTION
5.2 METHODS
5.2.1 Animals
5.2.2 Nitrosomethylurea (NMU) administration
5.2.3 Necropsy
5.2.4 Food intake
5.2.5 Statistical Analysis
5.3 RESULTS

.

5.4 DISCUSSION	
5.5 Appendix	
CHAPTER VI INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTOR I RE	CEPTORS AND
ESTROGEN RECEPTORS IN NMU INDUCED MAMMA	RY TUMORS103
6.1 INTRODUCTION	103
6.2 Methods	
6.2.1 Receptor isolation	
6.2.2 SDS PAGE Electrophoresis and protein transfer	
6.2.3 Receptor quantification	
6.2.4 Statistical Analysis	
6.3 Results	105
6.4 DISCUSSION	111
CHAPTER VII GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLU	JSIONS115
7.1 Future Directions	117
REFERENCES	

List of Figures

FIGURE 1.1. LYMPHATIC DRAINAGE OF THE BREAST TO REGIONAL NODE GROUPS
FIGURE 1.2. REGIONAL LOCATIONS OF TUMORS IN THE BREAST
FIGURE 1.3. ANATOMY OF THE BREAST
FIGURE 1.4. MAMMARY GLAND IN THE RAT
FIGURE 1.5. PLASMA HORMONE CONCENTRATIONS AND OVARIAN EVENTS DURING THE MENSTRUAL
CYCLE
FIGURE 1.6. THE HYPOTHALAMIC-PITUITARY OVARIAN AXIS
FIGURE 1.7. THE IGF-I RECEPTOR
FIGURE 1.8. MECHANISMS OF OESTROGEN ACTION IN PROMOTING THE GROWTH AND METASTASIS OF
TUMOR CELLS
FIGURE 1.9. THE FUNCTIONAL DOMAINS OF THE ESTROGEN RECEPTOR
FIGURE 3.1. ANIMAL WEIGHT GAIN OVER THE COURSE OF THE EXPERIMENT IN SEDENTARY AND
EXERCISED RATS

FIGURE 4.3B. CONCENTRATION OF 3 H NMU (NMOLES 3 H NMU/MG DNA) IN MAMMARY
gland DNA comparing between the three doses 25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg 3 H NMU
WITHIN EACH MAMMARY GLAND PAIR 2,3; 4,5; 6
FIGURE 4.4A. RATIO OF NMOLE ³ H NMU/MG DNA: MM ³ H NMU IN SERUM COMPARING
between the three doses 25 37.5 and 50 mg NMU/kg within each mammary gland
PAIR
Figure 4.4B. The comparison of CPM per 10^5 cells between the three doses 25, 37.5 50
MG NMU/KG WITHIN EACH OF THE THREE GLAND PAIRS 2,3; 4,5; 6 IN SEDENTARY RATS 66
FIGURE 4.5A. CONCENTRATION OF ${}^{3}H$ NMU (NMOLE NMU PER GRAM TISSUE) IN MAMMARY
GLAND HOMOGENATES COMPARING BETWEEN THE THREE GLANDS $2,3;4,5;6$ within each dose
25, 37.5 or 50 мg/kg ³ H NMU 68
FIGURE 4.5B. CONCENTRATION OF 3 H NMU (NMOLES 3 H NMU/MG DNA) IN MAMMARY
GLAND DNA COMPARING BETWEEN THE THREE GLANDS 2,3; 4,5; 6 WITHIN THE THREE DOSES
25, 37.5 or 50 мg/kg ³ H NMU 69
25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³ H NMU
25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³ H NMU
25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³ H NMU
25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³ H NMU
25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³ H NMU
25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³ H NMU
 25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³H NMU
 25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³H NMU
 25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³H NMU
 25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³H NMU
 25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³H NMU

ļ

xii

FIGURE 5.3. CUMULATIVE NUMBER OF PALPABLE MAMMARY CANCERS AS A FUNCTION OF TIME POST
CARCINOGEN ADMINISTRATION
FIGURE 5.4A. THE LOCATION OF TUMORS IN SEDENTARY RATS INJECTED WITH 37.5 MG NMU/KG.90
Figure 5.4b. The location of tumors in exercised rats injected with 37.5 Mg NMU/kg.91 $$
FIGURE 5.5. INCIDENCE OF MAMMARY CANCER (EXPRESSED AS A PERCENTAGE) AS A FUNCTION OF
TIME POST CARCINOGEN ADMINISTRATION
FIGURE 5.6. FOOD INTAKE FOR SEDENTARY AND EXERCISED RATS INJECTED WITH 37.5 MG
NMU/кд96
FIGURE 6.1. REPRESENTATION OF ESTROGEN RECEPTOR AND IGF-I RECEPTOR CONTENT IN NORMAL
tissue vs. mammary tumor
FIGURE 6.2. ESTROGEN RECEPTOR NUMBER VS. GROWTH RATE IN SEDENTARY AND EXERCISED
TUMORS
FIGURE 6.3. IGF-I RECEPTOR CONTENT VS. GROWTH RATE IN SEDENTARY AND EXERCISED TUMORS.

List of Tables

TABLE 3.1. EXERCISE TRAINING PROTOCOL. 40
TABLE 5.2. THE EFFECTS OF EXERCISE ON TOTAL TUMOR PARAMETERS IN RATS INJECTED WITH 37.5
аnd 50 mg NMU/kg [.]
TABLE 5.5.1. CHARACTERISTICS OF TUMORS REMOVED FROM RATS INJECTED WITH EITHER 37.5 OR
50 мд NMU/кд102
TABLE 6.2. RECEPTOR CONTENT IN RELATION TO GROWTH RATE, TUMOR LATENCY AND TUMOR
weight
TABLE 6.3. CORRELATION COEFFICIENTS (R VALUES) FOR RECEPTOR CONTENT VS. EACH OF THE
PARAMETERS GROWTH RATE, TUMOR LATENCY AND TUMOR WEIGHT

Chapter I Review of literature

Breast cancer is the leading cause of death among women in western countries. In North America one in nine women will develop the disease. It is a physically and psychologically debilitating disease. The drain on the health care system is continually increasing. Despite early screening and medical advances the incidence rate is not declining. Epidemiological studies on breast cancer have been extensive, however definitive etiologic factors are not known. The risk factors involved in breast cancer tend to be associated with the reproductive history of the individual, which is correlated to the stage of mammary gland development and the exposure to hormones such as estrogen and progesterone. Approximately five percent of breast cancers are genetic whereas the other ninety five percent are sporadic. The current trend in cancer research is to look at ways of preventing the disease. Lifestyle factors such as diet and exercise have emerged as potential preventative agents for this disease.

1.1 Histopathology of breast cancer

The World Health Organization has classified breast tumors into the following categories (Cotran et al. 1989):

A. Noninvasive (noninfiltrating)

- 1. intraductal carcinoma
- 2. intraductal papillary carcinoma
- 3. lobular carcinoma in situ
- B. Invasive
 - 1. invasive ductal carcinoma

1

- 2. invasive lobular carcinoma
- 3. medullary carcinoma
- 4. colloid carcinoma
- 5. Paget's disease
- 6. Tubular carcinoma
- 7. adenoid cystic carcinoma
- 8. invasive comedocarcinoma
- 9. apocrine carcinoma
- 10. invasive papillary carcinoma

The most common types of infiltrating breast tumors along with the incidences are outlined below (Cotran et al. 1989). 70-90% of invasive carcinoma is typically of ductal origin.

histologic type	incidence (%)	
invasive duct carcinoma		
-pure	52.6	
-combined with other types	22.0	
medullary carcinoma	6.2	
colloid carcinoma	2.4	
Paget's disease	2.3	
other pure types	2.0	
other combined types	1.6	
infiltrating lobular carcinoma	4.9	
combined lobular and ductal	6.0	

1.2 Epidemiology and risk factors

From epidemiological studies, researchers have determined that breast cancer is two diseases, one that occurs premenopausally and the other is postmenopausal in origin (Zumoff 1988). It is important when looking at epidemiological studies to remember that the relative contributions of genetic and environmental factors may be different for the two diseases. The established risk factors for breast cancer include family history of breast cancer, early menarche, late age at first childbirth, late age at menopause, history of benign breast disease and exposure to ionizing radiation (Harris et al. 1992). Obesity is a risk factor in postmenopausal women, however in premenopausal women reduced incidence is associated with obesity (Harris et al. 1992). Estrogenic stimulation increases risk (Pike et al. 1983) which may explain the role of age at menarche and menopause, and the obesity among postmenopausal women as risk factors. These factors are involved in the production of estrogen with early menarche and late menopause increasing the lifetime exposure to estrogen. In postmenopausal women, estrogen is produced by the conversion of androgens in fat tissue. Early pregnancy has a protective effect which may result from pregnancy induced differentiation of breast cells (Russo et al. 1982). The ability of a carcinogen to bind to DNA and cause damage is due to the presence of the undifferentiated, highly proliferating terminal end buds. It is these structures that are highly susceptible to carcinogenic insult (Russo and Russo 1987).

Differences in breast cancer rates among countries (Armstrong and Doll 1975) and increased incidence rates among immigrants from countries with low incidence to those with high incidence (Buell 1973) suggest the involvement of nongenetic factors in breast cancer (Harris et al. 1992). The overall incidence of breast cancer in Japan is one-fifth that of the United States (Armstrong and Doll 1975). Age at menarche may partially account for international differences, average age of menarche in China is 17 years (Chen et al. 1990)

3

vs. 12.8 years in the United States (Wyshak et al. 1982). Another explanation may be the differences in diet. Typically North Americans eat a much higher fat diet. In animal models caloric restriction and decreased fat consumption reduced incidence of mammary tumors (Welsch 1992; Ip 1990).

1.3 Etiology of breast cancer

Possible etiologic factors for breast cancer have been elucidated from epidemiological findings and animal studies. These factors can be divided into three groups: genetic factors, hormonal imbalance and environmental influences. The genetic factors involved in familial breast cancer are not known at this time, however the *brca1* and *brca2* genes are likely candidates (Ford and Easton 1995). Growth promoting proto-oncogenes and growth constraining tumor suppressor genes regulate the proliferation of normal cells (Weinberg 1991). Oncogenes are caused by mutations that activate proto-oncogenes and force the growth of tumor cells (Weinberg 1991). Conversely, cells are liberated from the constraints imposed by tumor suppressor genes when genetic lesions inactivate these genes. This leads to unconstrained growth of the cells (Weinberg 1991). Oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes that may be involved in sporadic breast cancer include c-erb-2, p53, TGF- α (Davidoff et al. 1991; Maguire et al. 1992; Parham and Jankowski 1992).

Long duration of reproductive life (i.e. time between menarche and menopause), nulliparity and late age at first child have been identified as risk factors. Each of these factors result in increased exposure to estrogen peaks during the menstrual cycle, which implies estrogen may play a role in breast cancer development. There are two mechanisms which are thought to be involved: 1. breast cells have estrogen receptors through which estrogen may have a direct mitogenic effect; and 2. autocrine/paracrine production of growth factors is estrogen dependent and these growth factors are believed to be involved in the progression of breast cancer (Miller 1990). Estrogen is just one of the hormones thought to be involved in breast cancer. Other hormones may be involved either directly or indirectly.

Two environmental factors that appear to be involved in breast cancer are diet and exposure to radiation (Harris et al. 1992). Other factors that are not as well established include smoking and alcohol consumption (Harris et al. 1992).

Several hypotheses have been put forth to try and explain the hormonal involvement in breast cancer (Zumoff 1988). These hypotheses are outlined below.

I. Adrenal androgen insufficiency hypothesis

A number of studies have identified a deficiency of adrenal androgen in women with premenopausal breast cancer (Zumoff 1988). The onset of disease is preceded by the decreased production and subnormal plasma levels of the adrenal androgens dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) and dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEAS). This deficiency may play a causal role in susceptibility to premenopausal breast cancer. DHEA administered to a strain of mice with a high incidence of the disease prevented the development of breast cancer (Schwartz 1979).

II. Ovarian androgen excess hypothesis

Chronic anovulation is characteristic of premenopausal breast patients and excessive urinary excretion of testosterone and androstenediol is seen in both the pre- and postmenopausal patient (Zumoff 1988). Ovariectomy results in a return to normal androgen excretion levels and is effective in preventing recurrence of breast cancer (Zumoff 1988). Chronic anovulation is known to be associated with increased ovarian androgen production, and ovarian dysfunction is an established risk factor for breast cancer (Coulam et al. 1983).

This suggests that ovarian androgen excess may be a factor in breast cancer in addition to increased ovarian estrogen production.

III. Prolactin hypothesis

Prolactin is a mammotrophic hormone making it a possible candidate for involvement in breast cancer. Prolactin excess has been linked to mammary cancer in experimental animals, however its role in human cancer has not been established (Zumoff 1988). Some studies have shown elevated levels of prolactin in both pre-and postmenopausal patients (Rose and Pruitt 1981) whereas others have reported decreased nocturnal serum prolactin levels and normal daytime levels in postmenopausal patients and elevated nocturnal prolactin levels in premenopausal breast cancer patients (Malarkey et al. 1977). Musey et al. reported that a decrease in serum prolactin levels was observed after a first full term pregnancy (Musey et al. 1987). This may help to explain the protection early pregnancy confers against breast cancer.

IV. Estradiol 16α -hydroxylation hypothesis





The 2-hydroxylation pathway leads to nonestrogenic metabolites, whereas the 16α hydroxylation produces two highly estrogenic metabolites. The ratio of the two pathways determines the total estrogenic impact of a given amount of secreted estradiol. This ratio is constant under normal biological circumstances. Increased 16α -hydroxylation is found in: 1) women with breast cancer; 2) women at high risk for familial breast cancer; and 3) mouse strains with high incidence of breast cancer (Zumoff 1988).

1.4 Natural history of breast cancer

Breast cancer is considered to be a systemic disease. At the time of initial diagnosis, twothirds of all patients have metastases to lymph nodes. Spread of the tumor can occur through the lymphatic system and the circulatory system. Figure 1.1 represents the positions of the lymph nodes and the possible directions of spread. The two favored directions of drainage are the axillary nodes and the nodes along the internal mammary artery. The pattern of nodal spread is heavily influenced by the location of the cancer as outlined in figure 1.2. The size of the tumor is closely associated with the presence of axillary metastases. Distant metastases can affect any site in the body but the most common are the lungs, bone and liver.

tumor size	patients with four or more positive nodes
(cm)	(%)
<1	25
- 1-2	35
2-3	50
>3	55-65



Figure 1.1. Lymphatic drainage of the breast to regional node groups. 1. main axillary groups. 2. interpectoral node leading to apex of axilla. 3. internal mammary group. 4. supraclavicular group. 5. lymphatic channels opposite axilla.



Figure 1.2. Regional locations of tumors in the breast.

8

1.5 Diagnosis and staging systems

Early screening for breast cancer has been a major initiative in the health care field. Monthly self breast examinations as well as regular examinations by a physician are strongly recommended. Mammograms are recommended every two years in women forty to fifty years of age, and annually after 50. A biopsy will confirm the presence of malignant cancers and allow histological examination and determination of estrogen receptor status of the tumor. The clinical stage of the tumor is classified according to the TNM system (American Joint Committee on Cancer 1988). T represents the tumor size, N is the lymph node involvement and M is the presence of distant metastases. Progressing from stage I to III there is increased size of tumor and a greater number of positive lymph nodes. Stage IV involves distant metastases.

1.6 Prognostic factors of breast cancer

The single most important prognostic factor is axillary node status. The greater the number of lymph nodes involved the poorer the survival rate. Other factors include clinical stage, tumor size and receptor status. With increasing tumor size and advancement in clinical stage, there is a concomitant decline in survival rate. Estrogen receptor negative patients are more likely to be younger (premenopausal) and have rapidly growing tumors that tend to recur earlier and to cause death earlier.

1.7 Management/treatment of breast cancer

The first step of intervention with breast cancer is surgery. The current practice is to leave the breast as intact as possible for cosmetic reasons. The surgery is followed by radiation therapy especially for locally advanced cancer. Adjuvant therapy is an important mode of management in breast cancer and can be in the form of either chemotherapy or hormone therapy. Adjuvant treatment is defined as therapy administered to patients with no demonstrable residual tumor after the initial treatment. The current consensus is that in women with lymph node involvement, chemotherapy should be given to premenopausal patients and hormone therapy to those who are postmenopausal. Chemotherapy is especially important for those patients with metastases. Cytotoxic drugs such as cyclophosphamide, methotrexate and fluorouracil are used with high risk patients. Chemotherapy treatment is used for metastatic breast cancer if: 1) visceral metastases are present; 2) hormonal treatment is unsuccessful or the disease has progressed after an initial response to hormonal manipulation; or 3) the tumor is estrogen receptor negative. Hormone treatment involves administering antiestrogens such as tamoxifen or drugs that will block synthesis of hormones such as aminoglutethamide. The tumor must be estrogen receptor positive for hormone therapy.

1.8 Animal models for mammary carcinogenesis

The two most common carcinogens used to induce mammary tumors in rats and mice are 7,12 dimethylbenz[a]anthracene (DMBA) and N-nitrosomethylurea (NMU). The two share common features such as organ site specificity, reliability of tumor induction, tumors of ductal origin, tumors of predominantly carcinomatous histopathology and tumors of varying hormone responsiveness (Welsch 1985). However, there are a number of

differences between the two models. DMBA is a procarcinogen which requires metabolic activation by the host whereas NMU is direct acting (Welsch 1985). DMBA tumors are more prolactin dependent whereas NMU tumors are more estrogen dependent (Welsch 1985). For example, in rats bearing DMBA induced tumors, but not NMU tumors, estrogen does not stimulate tumor growth when serum prolactin levels are suppressed (Manni et al. 1977). Prolactin suppressing drugs have more of an antitumor effect on DMBA mammary tumors than NMU mammary tumors (Rose and Noonan 1982). NMU tumors are more aggressive and locally invasive (Welsch 1985). The number of benign tumors induced by NMU is lower than in the DMBA model (Welsch 1985).

1.9 Nitrosomethylurea (NMU)

Nitrosomethylurea (NMU) is a direct acting alkylating agent classified as a nitrosoamide with the following structure.



The spontaneous decomposition of NMU produces electrophiles which attack nucleic acids forming methylated nucleosides. In 1975, mammary carcinomas were induced in female rats with monthly intravenous (iv.) injections of NMU (Bots and Willighagen 1975; Gullino et al. 1975). Subsequently, the procedure for tumor induction was modified by Moon et al. (1977) with two iv. injections one week apart. The current protocol for inducing mammary carcinomas with an iv. injection of NMU requires one injection typically at a dose of 50 mg NMU/kg around 50 days of age (McCormick et al. 1981). Thompson et al. have further modified the procedure by using a single intraperitoneal (ip.) injection arguing that technically ip. injections are easier to administer than iv. injections (Thompson and Adlakha 1991). The tumor incidence is comparable with iv. and ip. injections (Thompson and Adlakha 1991). Several studies using both multiple and single injections have demonstrated a dose response relationship between NMU dose and tumor incidence (Verdeal et al. 1982; McCormick et al. 1981; Thompson and Adlakha 1991; Anisimov 1988). Tumor incidence and multiplicity increase with increasing NMU dose whereas latency increases with decreasing NMU dose. Hypophysectomy causes rapid tumor regression, but administration of prolactin or estrogen to these rats stabilizes tumor growth (reviewed in Welsch 1985). At or after NMU administration, ovariectomy inhibits development and growth of tumors (reviewed in Welsch 1985). Administration of antiestrogens also inhibits development and growth of tumors (reviewed in Welsch 1985). Progesterone in moderate doses shows an inhibitory effect if it is administered ten days after or seven days before and continuing after NMU treatment (reviewed in Welsch 1985). However, it shows a stimulatory effect when administered at the time of NMU treatment (reviewed in Welsch 1985). Pregnancy and lactation commencing after NMU suppresses tumor development (reviewed in Welsch 1985). Decreased incidence occurs when pregnancy without lactation follows NMU treatment: latency period of mammary tumor appearance significantly decreases in pregnant animals. Reduced latency suggests that the hormonal milieu of pregnancy accelerates growth of certain NMU induced mammary cancers. Receptors for estrogen, progesterone, androgens and prolactin have been detected and examined in NMU induced rat mammary cancers (reviewed in Welsch 1985).

Administration of NMU activates the Ha ras oncogene in the rat mammary gland (Sukamar et al. 1983; Zarbl 1985; Kumar 1990). The gene is activated by a G to A transition in the second nucleotide of codon 12. The major product of NMU alkylation is methylguanosine. The presence of methylguanosine will cause a G to A transition in an amino acid sequence.

12

1.10 DNA damage and DNA repair

DNA damage can result from radiation and/or chemical carcinogens. Chemical carcinogens can be either direct acting or procarcinogens which require host activation. Below are the types of DNA damage that can occur in a cell (Tannock and Hill 1992).

Nucleotide level:

-DNA carcinogen adduct formation

-base oxidation

-base loss

DNA molecule level:

-single strand break

-double strand break

-intrastrand crosslink

-interstrand crosslink

-DNA protein crosslink

Chromosome level:

-chromosome deletions

-chromosome translocations

-loss of chromosome

Alkylating agents such as NMU are electrophilic compounds which alkylate DNA. 7methylguanine and O⁶ methylguanine are the major methylated products resulting from NMU administration. Repair of this damage can occur in one of two ways: 1) removal of alkyl groups by alkyltransferase or 2) removal of altered base by a glycosylase creating an apurinic or apyrimidinic site that can be repaired by excision repair which may occur at the base or nucleotide level (Myles and Sancar 1989). Direct repair of the modified base occurs when the alkyl group is transferred from the base to the alkyltransferase (Tannock and Hill 1992). Nucleotide excision repair involves a complex multi enzyme system involved in a stepwise process as follows: 1) recognition of damage; 2) nicking of damaged DNA strand next to damaged nucleotide by an endonuclease; 3) removal of damaged region by exonuclease; 4) resynthesis of DNA by polymerase using opposite intact strand as template; and 5) ligation of single strand gap resulting from polymerase reaction (Mullaart et al. 1990).

Methods of detecting DNA damage and/or repair include the alkaline unwinding assay, unscheduled DNA synthesis (UDS), the and nick translation assay. UDS is a classic test for DNA damage (Snyder and Matheson 1985). However, negative test results occurred with many DNA damaging carcinogens (Snyder and Matheson 1985). The sensitivity of the assay is brought in to question when considering agents that induce very low levels of damage or damage that requires little or no resynthesis during repair (Snyder and Matheson 1985). The nick translation assay was modified to circumvent these problems (Snyder and Matheson 1985). The nick translation procedure can assess both DNA damage (appearing as strand breaks) and DNA repair. The assay involves the introduction of exogenous DNA polymerase I and deoxynucleotide triphosphates (dNTPs) into permeabilized cells. One of the dNTPs is labeled with tritium (³H). The exogenous *E. coli* DNA polymerase I binds to free 3' OH termini and in the presence of dNTPs translates the nick linearly along the DNA helix. This is accomplished by the 5' to 3' exonuclease activity and polymerizing activity present on the same enzyme molecule (Kelly et al. 1970).

1.11 Susceptibility of the rat mammary gland to carcinogenic attack

The highest incidence of carcinogen induced mammary carcinomas occurs when the rats are injected around fifty days of age, a time when the number of terminal end buds (TEBs) and the level of DNA synthesis are at their highest (Russo and Russo 1982). The susceptibility of a cell to undergo malignant transformation depends on factors such as rates of DNA synthesis, cell proliferation, the length of G_1 and S phases of the cell cycle and the cellular competency in DNA repair (Russo and Russo 1982). Rapid cell division increases the ability of the cell to bind to a carcinogen and a short cell cycle allows less time to repair the damage to the DNA (Russo and Russo 1987). The cell cycle in TEBs is considerably shorter than that of alveolar buds (Abs) as the G_1 phase of the cell cycle is shortened in TEBs. G_1 represents the time between mitosis and the beginning of DNA replication (Villee 1985). During this phase the cell grows and there is increased activity of the enzymes involved in DNA synthesis and repair (Villee 1985). Thus a major difference between TEBs and ABs is that TEBs are cells possess a higher proliferative activity (Russo and Russo 1987).

1.12 Mammary gland anatomy and development

Russo and Russo have extensively characterized the structure of the mammary gland (1987). The mature mammary gland is composed of a system of 15 to 20 lactiferous ducts that lead into a main lactiferous duct (figure 1.3). The ducts end in structures known as lobules which are composed of acini, the secretory cells of the mammary gland. At puberty the ductal system starts to form. These immature ducts end in terminal end buds (TEBs). It is these structures that eventually give rise to the lobules. With the onset of menstruation, the lobular structures begin to appear composed of the more differentiated alveolar buds

(ABs). With each successive menstrual cycle the number of lobules increases. Three types of lobules have been identified. They differ in the number of alveolar buds/lobule and in their proliferation index such that type I is the least dense but possesses the highest rate of proliferation. Type I is typically found in nulliparous women whereas type II and III are common in women who have had children. The ducts and ductules (lobules) are enclosed in a loose, delicate myxomatous stroma that contains a scattering of lymphocytes (intralobular connective tissue). The individual lobules are enclosed within a denser, collagenous, fibrous interlobular stroma. At puberty the mammary gland consists almost entirely of stroma. The ratio of parenchyma:stroma increases with puberty and during pregnancy parenchyma contributes to about 73% of the gland.



Figure 1.3. Anatomy of the breast.



1= cervical mammary glands
2,3= thoracic mammary glands
4,5= abdominal mammary glands
6= inguinal mammary glands

Figure 1.4. Mammary glands in the rat

In the rat there are six pairs of mammary glands (figure 1.4). The structure and development of the rat mammary gland is similar to that of the human. At 21 days of age, the TEBs begin to differentiate into the smaller ABs which are lined by a two layered epithelium (Russo and Russo 1987). The rats estrous cycle starts between 35 and 42 days old and with each cycle the differentiation is enhanced. Once the animal reaches sexual maturity (6-8 weeks of age) the mammary ductal tree completely fills the mammary fat pad, with characteristic ductal spacing being maintained as long as the animal remains nonpregnant (Topper and Freeman 1980). Little growth occurs until pregnancy ensues (Topper and Freeman 1980).

The type of cell(s) found in the mammary gland depend on the location (Cotran et al. 1989). The areola, nipple and mouths of the main lactiferous ducts are composed of stratified squamous epithelium. As you move down the main duct the cells are identified as pseudo-stratified columnar epithelium. As the main duct begins to branch off the ducts are lined with a double layer of cuboidal epithelium and as the branches become smaller and smaller the cells become single layered. The smaller ducts and ductules also have a layer of myoepithelial cells. The myoepithelial cells contain myofilaments running parallel to the long axis of the duct. These myofilaments contract causing the milk to be secreted from the acini cells.

1.13 Hormones and mammary gland development

A complex of hormones regulate the growth and development of the mammary gland (reviewed by Topper and Freeman 1980; Borellini and Oka 1989; Imagawa et al. 1990). Classical studies on hormones were based on three experimental designs: 1) effect of removal of endocrine glands; 2) administration of hormones to intact animals; and 3) hormone replacement therapy in endocrinectomized hosts (Imagawa et al. 1990). General conclusions drawn from such studies are outlines below (Topper and Freeman 1980; Borellini and Oka 1989; Imagawa et al. 1990). Estrogen and either growth hormone or prolactin are the minimal requirements for ductal growth, however neither hormone is effective alone. Progesterone is not required for ductal growth. Maintenance of ductal structures is hormonally different than the requirement for ductal growth. Provided either adrenal or ovarian secretion is present, pituitary hormones are not required. Lobuloalveolar development during pregnancy is dependent on estrogen, prolactin and progesterone. Progesterone levels increase early in gestation and is probably the initiator of lobuloalveolar development. Progesterone or progesterone and estrogen together stimulate DNA synthesis in both end buds and surrounding ducts whereas estrogen causes synthesis only at the tips of the end buds. Progesterone receptor concentration varies with developmental state of the mammary gland. Receptors are abundant in virgin mice, reduced during pregnancy and nonexistent during lactation. Estrogen causes increase in progesterone receptor number. Progesterone stimulates ductal branching and lobuloalveolar development, while inhibiting lactogenesis during pregnancy. The number of prolactin receptors is inversely related to the serum levels of progesterone. Prolactin and growth hormone are the anterior pituitary factors responsible for functional differentiation.

Recent *in vitro* studies have shown progesterone and prolactin are mammogenic hormones that stimulate growth, whereas estrogen has no direct effect on growth (reviewed in Imagawa et al. 1990). Several theories as to how estrogen affects the mammary gland have been put forth. *In vivo* estrogen may act in one of three ways: 1) as a primary mitogen in mammary tissue; 2) as a permissive agent that sensitizes mammary tissue to the action of lactogenic hormones and growth factors; or 3) act indirectly through stimulation of secretion of other hormones and growth factors. Estrogen could potentiate the effect of

19

progesterone and prolactin on postpubertal ductal growth and alveolar development by stimulating pituitary prolactin secretion and inducing progesterone receptors.

1.14 Exercise and menarche

The menstrual cycle can be defined in terms of ovarian events. The follicular phase is considered the proliferative phase of the cycle and is characterized by the development of a mature ovarian follicle which contains the ovum or egg. The luteal phase is defined as the secretory phase because the corpus luteum produces and secretes progesterone and estrogens. Plasma hormone concentrations and ovarian events are depicted in figure 1.5. The hypothalamic-pituitary ovarian axis is responsible for the regulation of the menstrual cycle (figure 1.6).



Figure 1.5. Plasma hormone concentrations and ovarian events during the menstrual cycle.



Figure 1.6. The hypothalamic-pituitary ovarian axis. GnRH = gonadotropin releasing hormone; FSH = follicle stimulating hormone; LH = luteinizing hormone.

Cycle length, the follicular phase, occurrence of ovulation and the luteal phase are parameters used to characterize the menstrual cycle as eumenorrheic, oligomenorrheic or amenorrheic (Greene 1993). Women who have a cycle length within the normal range of 21-45 days are classified as eumenorrheic while oligomenorrhea refers to too few cycles, 45-90 days duration (Greene 1993). The absence of menses for three months or longer is identified as amenorrhea (Greene 1993). Menstrual irregularities appear to be the result of changes in hormone concentrations and secretory patterns (Greene 1993). Hormonal alterations which may be involved in exercise related menstrual dysfunction are listed below (Greene 1993).
Factors predisposing female athletes to menstrual irregularities prior menstrual dysfunction or delayed menarche stress-physical and psychological miles run per week-high energy output weight loss undernutrition and vegetarian diets low body fat nulliparity

Oligomenorrhea and amenorrhea are found in female athletes with the severity of the disturbances dependent on intensity of training (Arena et al. 1995). Feicht et al. (1978) found a positive correlation between number of miles run per week and incidence of amenorrhea.

Menarche, defined as the onset of menses, is dependent on the hypothalamic pituitary ovarian axis (Greene 1993). Physical exercise at a young age is believed to be a causative factor in delayed menarche (Frisch et al. 1981; Malina et al. 1973; Warren 1980).

Little work has been done in rats to determine the effects of exercise on the estrous cycle (Erich et al. 1985; Pellerin-Massicotte et al. 1987; Carlberg and Fregly 1985; Sylvester et al. 1989). Vaginal opening as an indicator of sexual maturation is delayed by intense training (Erich et al. 1985; Pellerin-Massicotte et al. 1987). In an attempt to establish an animal model for studying exercise induced amenorrhea, Carlberg and Fregly exercised female Sprague Dawley rats for ten weeks at a work rate of 16m/min., 60m/day for 5 days per week (Carlberg and Fregly 1985). Cycle length was increased from 4.31 to 5.48 days in exercised rats). Rats that were run on treadmills 1 or 3 times per week had a significantly longer cycle than sedentary rats and those run 5 or 7 days per week had

significantly increased cycle lengths compared to the less frequently exercised rats and sedentary rats (Sylvester et al. 1989). Increasing frequency of training appears to increase cycle length (Sylvester et al. 1989).

1.15 Exercise and hormones

Exercise affects the levels of both reproductive and non-reproductive hormones. Blood levels of hormones depend on a balance between production, metabolism and clearance rates (Arena et al. 1995). In response to acute exercise, estradiol has been shown to either increase (Bonen et al. 1983; Jurkowski et al. 1978) or not change (Kindermann 1984; Loucks & Horvath 1984) during exercise. Others have shown that estradiol increases immediately post exercise and during recovery (Wallace 1981). Because alterations in steroid levels are delayed, changes may not occur until the end of prolonged exercise or during recovery (Shangold 1984). However the increases in estradiol and progesterone are related to the intensity of the exercise (Jurkowski et al. 1978). Heavy exercise causes significant increases in ovarian hormones in untrained subjects (Bonen et al. 1983) whereas no difference is observed in trained athletes exercising at the same absolute workload (Bonen et al. 1979; Jurkowski et al. 1978; Keizer et al. 1980; Keizer et al. 1981). Trained individuals have lower resting estradiol levels (Boyden et al. 1983). Strenuous exercise can bring on exercise induced amenorrhea which is distinct from hypothalamic amenorrhea. In the former there is no involvement of the pituitary control system which regulates menstrual fluctuations. There are conflicting reports as to whether basal estradiol levels are lower in amenorrheic runners compared to regularly menstruating runners and nonrunners. Lower levels of estradiol and sex hormone binding globulins (to which estradiol and testosterone bind) were reported among amenorrheic runners compared to eumenorrheic runners or nonrunners (Baker et al. 1981; Snead et al. 1992; Loucks and Horvath 1984). Schwartz et al. (1981) found no difference among the three groups. However the ratio of

estrone/estradiol is significantly higher in all amenorrheic subjects. These runners also display higher lutenizing hormone and dehydroepiandrosterone sulphate and lower thyroid stimulating hormone levels. This suggests that exercise associated amenorrhea is distinct from hypothalamic amenorrhea (Terblanche 1989). Contradicting studies show amenorrheic women have decreased plasma follicle stimulating hormone, luteinizing hormone concentrations at rest and there is no response of prolactin after exercise when compared to eumenorrheic runners (Loucks and Horvath 1984). Women who engage in heavy and prolonged exercise exhibit low levels of luteinizing hormones (Jones 1949; Cumming et al. 1985a; Cumming et al. 1985b; Veldhuis et al. 1985; Boyden et al. 1982).

Prolactin levels rise during exercise (Hale et al. 1983; Mayer et al. 1980; Shangold et al. 1981). Because prolactin has a short half life (10 min.) levels are back down to baseline within 45 minutes of cessation of exercise (Brisson et al. 1980). Exercise induced prolactin release only occurs in athletes suggesting a possible role of training in conditioning the hypothalamopituitary exercise induced secretion (Rolandi 1985). Increased prolactin levels occur as a consequence of repeated exercise bouts (Bullen et al. 1984; Chang et al. 1986). This may be an added causative factor for the onset of menstrual problems in addition to changes in production, metabolism and clearance of reproductive hormones (Shangold et al. 1979; Evans et al. 1982; Boyden et al. 1982). DeMeirleir et al. (1985) showed that the increase in prolactin levels during and after exercise are due to pituitary secretion rather than decreased elimination. Enhanced prolactin secretion induced by exercise may prevent ovarian aromatisation of androgens to estrogens (Keizer et al. 1987). Prolactin responses are blunted in amenorrheic runners as compared to eumenorrheic (De Souza et al. 1991).

1.16 Exercise and breast cancer

Epidemiologic and laboratory data indicate that certain patterns of physical activity may alter the risk for cancer (Kohl et al. 1988; Shepard 1986,1990). Epidemiological studies on the association between physical activity and mammary tumorigenesis have found lower, greater and no effects on lifetime occurrence of breast cancer (Paffenberger et al. 1987; Frisch 1987). Frisch et al. (1987) found that there is a lower incidence of breast cancer among former college athletes compared to there sedentary counterparts. Similar results were reported for the prevalence of benign lesions (Wyshak et al. 1986). Paffenberger et al. (1987) found no relationship between exercise during the college years and breast cancer incidence. There are inherent problems with epidemiological studies of this nature. Results are based primarily on questionnaires answered by subjects which requires them to remember what they did 20 years ago. The data from the Paffenberger study was originally collected for a hypertensive-atherosclerotic disease study. Therefore some controls were missing. As Cohen (1991) states in a review on the topic, the greatest weakness of epidemiological studies to date has been the assessment of activity status.

A number of animal studies (rats and mice) have examined the effects of exercise on 7,12dimethylbenz(a)anthracene (DMBA) or nitrosomethylurea (NMU) induced mammary tumors. The majority of the investigations have studied the effects of exercise on the promotion phase of mammary tumorigenesis. Primarily, two types of exercise have been utilized, voluntary access to a running wheel and forced treadmill running. Voluntary exercise has been consistently shown to decrease tumor incidence. Cohen et al. (1988,1991) found that allowing rats free access to activity wheels after NMU administration decreased tumor yield and increased tumor latency. These results were supported in a study by Benjamin et al. (1988). The studies utilizing forced treadmill running have reported conflicting results. Initial studies by Thompson et al. (1988,1989) in which a very low intensity exercise regime was utilized revealed that when exercise was initiated post-DMBA administration, there was a higher tumor incidence and tumor number and decreased tumor latency regardless of whether the rats were fed a high fat or low fat diet. In a more recent paper, Thompson (1992) has found that increasing the duration from 15 to 30 min. per training session delayed tumor appearance in rats injected with NMU. Lane et al. (1991) found that exercising mice during the promotion phase of DMBA induced mammary tumorigenesis lowered tumor incidence. These studies provide evidence to suggest that, in rats and mice, exercise can alter the incidence and latency of mammary tumors induced by carcinogens.

In animal models, the effects of exercise prior to carcinogen administration on subsequent tumor development has received relatively little attention. Yedinak (1988) found that exercise prior to DMBA administration and during the initiation phase decreased tumor incidence with a low fat diet and increased incidence with a high fat diet. A follow up study looked at the relationship between exercise and mammary tumorigenesis using two doses of DMBA (Layman et al. 1990). They found that a lower dose plus exercise led to a decreased incidence and increased latency, whereas the higher dose plus exercise had the opposite effects.

There are inherent problems in comparing the results from experimental animal studies. They are the types of exercise, intensity and duration of exercise, type of carcinogen (DMBA is host activated, NMU is direct acting) and the length of the experiment.

1.17 Insulin-like growth factor 1

Insulin-like growth factors (IGFs), classified as type I and type II are polypeptides with structural homology to insulin. IGFs can elicit two types of biological responses: 1) rapid metabolic effects (insulin like); and/or 2) slower growth promoting effects (mitogenic) (Krywicki et al. 1992). IGFs allow the cell to progress from G1 to S phase of the cell cycle (Krywicki et al. 1992). IGF-I exerts its effects by binding to the IGF-I receptor and activating its tyrosine protein kinase (Rosen et al. 1991). IGF-I mediates the effect of growth hormone, which is produced in the pituitary gland. Growth hormone induces IGF-I production in a number of tissues (Lowe 1991; D'Ecrole et al. 1984; Walker et al. 1991). Because growth hormone is involved in mammary gland development, a natural progression is to study the presence of IGF-I in mammary tissue. There are several lines of evidence which suggest that IGF-I is involved in the growth and differentiation of the mammary gland including: 1) the stimulation of IGF-I mRNA by growth hormone in rat mammary glands (Kleinberg et al. 1990); 2) presence of IGF-I mRNA in rat adult tissue and human mammary stromal tissue (Murphy et al. 1987; Yee et al. 1989) 3) mammary epithelial cells produce and secrete IGF-I binding proteins (IGFBP) which may play a role in regulation of action of IGF-I (McGrath et al. 1991; Campbell et al. 1991) 4) primary cultures from animals are stimulated by physiologic concentrations of IGF-I (Cullen et al. 1992).

IGF-I is mitogenic for some breast cancer cell lines in tissue culture (Furlanetto and DiCarlo 1984; Karey and Sirbasku 1988; Cullen et al. 1990). There is debate as to whether or not IGF-I is expressed in mammary tumors. By northern blot analysis of breast cancer cell lines, IGF-I mRNA was detected (Huff et al. 1986). However, Subsequently it was subsequently determined using the more sensitive RNase protection assay that the mRNA are not authentic IGF-I transcripts but some related substance that also crossreacts in radioimmuno assays (Yee et al. 1989). In both normal and tumor breast tissue, the RNase protection assay reveals authentic mRNA transcripts (Yee et al. 1989). The IGF-I mRNA is expressed in stromal fibroblasts as indicated by *in situ* hybridization (Yee et al. 1989). This suggests IGF-I may act through a paracrine mechanism. In tumor tissue, IGF-I mRNA expression is detected in the normal area of the specimen and not in stroma adjacent to tumor cells (Yee et al. 1989). IGF-II mRNA shows similar results to IGF-I mRNA (Rosen 1991). Again, in normal and malignant tissue it is expressed in stromal cells (Rosen 1991). However, in breast tumor tissue it is expressed in adjacent stromal cells. Also some malignant epithelial cells express IGF-II mRNA (Rosen 1991). Therefore IGF-I may act in endocrine (due to IGF-I in serum) or paracrine fashion and IGF-II in paracrine or autocrine fashion.

1.18 Insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor

The insulin-like growth factor I receptor is a heterotetramer with structural homology to the insulin receptor (Krywicki et al. 1992). It is synthesized as a single peptide (180 kDa) which is subsequently glycosylated and cleaved to an α and β chain (Krywicki et al. 1992). The α chains (apparent molecular weight = 135 kDa) are extracellular and covalently bound by a disulfide bridge to the predominantly intracellular β chains (apparent 90 kDa) in β - α - α - β configuration (figure 1.7) (Krywicki et al. 1992).





The α chains contain ligand binding domains whereas β chains span the cellular membrane and possess tyrosine kinase activity on the cytosolic side of the membrane (Ullrich et al. 1986; Steele-Perkins et al. 1988). Insulin-like growth factor I receptor binds IGF-I and II with roughly equal affinities while the affinity for insulin is much lower (Humbel 1990). A monoclonal antibody (α IR3) directed against the IGF-I receptor blocks the IGF-I response indicating the mitogenic signal of IGF-1 is mediated via the IGF-1 receptor (Flier et al. 1986).

The presence of IGF-I receptor in most studies to date has been detected using ligand binding assays. Most breast cancer cell lines express IGF-I receptor (Cullen et al. 1990; Furlanetto and DeCarlo 1984; DeLeon et al. 1988). IGF-I receptor concentrations are

higher in hormone dependent cell lines than hormone independent cell lines (Peyrat and Bonneterre 1992). There is a positive link between IGF-I receptor and estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor or prolactin receptor (Peyrat et al. 1988a; Peyrat and Bonneterre 1992). The correlation is stronger in postmenopausal women (Peyrat and Bonneterre 1992). IGF-I receptor is detected in normal and malignant breast tissue (Pollack et al. 1987; Peyrat et al. 1988b; Pekonen et al. 1988; Foekens et al. 1989a). The expression of the IGF-I receptor is associated with good prognosis, estrogen receptor positive cancers (Foekens et al. 1989b).

IGF-I receptor mRNA is present in all breast cancer cell lines as tested by RNA protection assay (Cullen et al. 1990). In MCF 7 cells which are hormone dependent, IGF-I receptor mRNA levels are stimulated by estradiol (Stewart et al. 1990; Freiss et al. 1990). Breast cancer biopsies reveal similar results to cell lines, ie. the presence of IGF-I receptor as detected by a binding assay (Peyrat et al. 1989; Cullen et al. 1990; Peyrat et al. 1990).

In terms of Specificity, IGF-I is slightly more potent than IGF-II (2X) in competing for IGF-I binding and 100 fold more potent than insulin (Peyrat and Bonneterre 1992). IGF-I and II receptors are ubiquitous in human breast cancer, however, evidence suggests that some of the biological effects of IGF-II are mediated through type I IGF receptor (Keiss et al. 1987; Roth 1988). α IR-3 mAB which blocks the type I receptor abolishes mitogenic effects of both IGF-I and II in breast cancer cell lines and tumor biopsies (Cullen et al. 1990; Osborne et al. 1989).

Overall survival (OS) and relapse free survival (RFS) correlates with IGF-I receptor presence in tumors (Bonneterre et al. 1990). There is no difference between node positive or negative patients or tumor diameter (Peyrat and Bonneterre 1992). IGF receptor binding has been shown to be higher in tumor tissues than adjacent normal tissue suggesting the IGF-I receptor expression is associated with malignant transformation of breast epithelial cells (Pekonen et al. 1988).

1.19 Estrogen

Estrogens are a class of steroid hormones produced by the ovaries in premenopausal women whereas conversion of androgen to estrogen in adipose tissue is the primary source in postmenopausal women (Miller 1990). Estrogen is involved in the growth of both normal and neoplastic breast tissue. The role of estrogen in normal mammary gland development was reviewed earlier. The establishment of estrogen's role in breast cancer comes from the following lines of evidence: 1) estrogen acts as promoting agent for rodent mammary tumors (Henderson et al. 1988; Vessey 1989); 2) protective effect of ovariectomy (Miller 1990; Henderson et al. 1988; Vessey 1989); 3) occurrence of breast cancer is rare in males (Miller 1990); 4) estrogen's mitogenic effects on breast cancer cell lines (Dickson and Lippman 1988; Darbre and King 1988); and 5) successful treatment of some breast cancers with antiestrogens (Santen et al. 1990; Miller 1990). There are a number of mechanisms through which estrogen may modulate breast tumor growth which are outlined below in Figure 1.8 (Miller 1990). The hormone must bind to the estrogen receptor for estrogen to have direct effects on tumor growth.





1) oestrogens cause the release of oestromedins from the pituitary which stimulate tumor

cells.

2) oestrogen has direct effects on tumor cell growth.

3) oestrogens stimulate the release of mitogenic growth factors from tumor cells.

4) oestrogen stimulates the release of proteases from tumor cells.

1.20 Estrogen receptor

The estrogen receptor is a member of the nuclear hormone superfamily (Parker et al. 1993). It has an apparent molecular weight of 65 kDa. The receptor acts as a ligand dependent transcription factor (Baniahmad et al. 1994). The estrogen receptor is located in the cell nucleus in the inactive form (Parker et al. 1993). When estrogen binds to the receptor, a conformational change occurs, the receptor forms homodimers and binds to DNA (Parker et al. 1993; Baniahmad et al. 1994). The receptor has at least three functions: ligand binding, protein dimerization and transcriptional activation (Parker et al. 1993). The structure of the receptor can be divided into three parts, the amino terminus (containing the A/B region), the DNA binding domain (C region) and the C terminus (containing the D/E/F region) (Baniahmad et al. 1994). The functional domains are outlined in figure 1.9 (Baniahmad et al. 1994).



Figure 1.9. The functional domains of the estrogen receptor.

Estrogen receptors have been identified in both normal and malignant breast tissue (Reviewed by Auchus and Fuqua 1994). Estrogen receptor status, determined by ligand binding assays, is used to ascertain the responsiveness to hormone therapy. Those tumors that are estrogen receptor positive respond to this therapy and have a more favorable prognosis (Auchus and Fuqua 1994).

1.21 Rationale

Breast cancer is the leading cause of death among North American women. Although the exact etiologic agents of breast cancer are not known, many epidemiological and laboratory studies have focused on lifestyle changes that may reduce the risk of breast cancer. As cancer is not a static disease, but rather a multistep process (initiation to promotion to progression), there are a number of steps where intervention is possible. Epidemiological studies have shown that exercise at an early age lowers the prevalence of breast cancer. Although laboratory studies have assessed the effects of exercise during the promotion phase of tumorigenesis, none have addressed the question of exercise prior to initiation and its effects on susceptibility of the mammary gland to carcinogenic attack. By using an animal model to answer this question variables such as diet, exercise intensity/duration and genetics can be controlled. As exercise is known to alter a number of factors which are thought to modify the carcinogenic process including endocrine responses and metabolic activities, potential mechanisms affecting tumor development will be studied.

1.22 Justification of model

Female Sprague Dawley rats were chosen because 1) they are relatively complaint in terms of running on treadmills and 2) they are susceptible to NMU induced mammary

tumorigenesis. NMU shows organ site specificity in terms of induction of mammary tumors. The induced tumors are primarily adenocarcinomas and are locally invasive. Like human breast tumors, NMU tumors in rats are estrogen dependent. Finally, the NMU model was chosen for these experiments because it is direct acting, requiring no host activation. The purpose of this work was to assess the effects of exercise on the mammary gland itself and subsequent tumor development rather than the metabolism of a carcinogen.

Chapter II Experimental strategy

The purpose of this thesis was to assess the effects of exercise in young female Sprague Dawley rats on mammary gland development; carcinogen distribution, binding and damage; and subsequent mammary tumor development. Exercise is known to alter the levels of hormones involved in mammary gland development and epithelial cell differentiation, two factors involved in the susceptibility of the mammary gland to carcinogenic attack. Chapter three presents experiments which determined if exercise at different intensities and/or durations alters mammary gland development and epithelial cell proliferation. In order for a carcinogen to be effective, it must first reach the target cell and cause DNA damage. Experiments presented in chapter four assess the distribution and binding properties of NMU at three different doses. The effects of exercise on DNA damage/repair was determined using the nick translation assay. The experiments in chapter five assess the effects of exercise prior to NMU administration on subsequent mammary tumorigenesis utilizing two different doses of NMU, 50 mg NMU/kg and 37.5 mg NMU/kg. The final experiments in chapter six determine the estrogen receptor and IGF-I receptor content in tumors from sedentary and exercised rats and examine possible relationships between receptor content and tumor parameters such as growth rate, latency and weight.

It was hypothesized that exercise prior to carcinogen administration would decrease tumor incidence and increase latency period. This effect would be more pronounced with the lower dose. The factors responsible for this effect of exercise were hypothesized to be twofold. First, through the alteration of hormone levels, exercise would enhance mammary gland development and decrease proliferation. Secondly, exercise would alter the distribution of NMU, clear it from the body faster and decrease DNA damage.

Chapter III Effects of exercise during puberty on mammary gland development and mammary epithelial cell proliferation

3.1 Introduction

Breast cancer is a physically and psychologically debilitating disease. The ultimate goal in breast cancer research is to find a way of preventing the disease. One of the potential risk factors for breast cancer is thought to be the cumulative exposure to estrogen (Henderson et al. 1985; Henderson et al. 1988). Cumulative exposure takes into account age at menarche, number of ovulatory cycles, age of first pregnancy, and age of menopause. Strenuous exercise is thought to delay menarche and increase the number of anovulatory cycles reducing the cumulative exposure to estrogen (Malina et al. 1978; Warren 1980). In addition, Bernstein et al. (1987) have proposed that moderate intensity exercise during adolescence reduces the risk of breast cancer, as they have observed increased menstrual cycle length patterns and reduction in the number of ovulatory cycles with moderate intensity exercise training. It has been suggested by Hoffman-Goetz and Husted (1994) that exercise could effect estrogen levels and consequently breast cancer either directly by altering ovulatory cycles or indirectly through body composition. Aromatase, an enzyme found in fat deposits, is responsible for converting androgens to estrogen. Abdominal obesity is correlated with increased risk of breast cancer (Schapira et al. 1990). These findings suggest that changes in circulating hormone levels due to exercise either directly or indirectly alter the mammary gland in such a way as to provide a protective effect against breast cancer. To our knowledge no one has determined the effects of exercise directly on the normal rat mammary gland development and/or epithelial cell proliferation.

Susceptibility of the mammary gland to carcinogenic attack is partially dependent on the developmental stage of the mammary gland (Russo et al. 1982). The more differentiated the gland is, the lower the proliferation rate is, giving more time for DNA repair which results in lower susceptibility. In rats, energy restriction delays the onset of puberty characterized by vaginal opening (Arts et al. 1992; Park et al. 1994; Lok et al. 1990). Mammary gland development is delayed in energy restricted rats and proliferation rates in TEBs decreases (Arts et al. 1992). The effects of exercise on mammary gland development are currently not known. However, exercise is known to affect caloric balance and changes in diet have been demonstrated to affect mammary gland development (Welsch and O'Connor 1989). Exercise is thought to delay menarche and affect menstrual cycles in both humans and rats (Frisch et al. 1981; Bernstein et al. 1987; Chatterton et al. 1990; Carlberg and Fregly 1985). It has been suggested that exercise alters the endocrine levels of prolactin, estrogen, progesterone and growth hormone, which consequently affect mammary gland development (Kohl et al. 1988; Frisch et al. 1985; Bernstein et al. 1987). Albanes and Winick (1988) state that cancer risk is proportional to the number of proliferating cells and this number is dependent upon the number of cells in the tissue and the rate of cell division. We therefore hypothesized that chronic physical activity prior to carcinogen exposure may serve to alter normal mammary gland development in such a way as to affect tumor initiation and subsequent tumorigenesis.

The purpose of this study was to assess the effects of exercise during peripuberty on mammary gland development and mammary gland epithelial cell proliferation in Sprague Dawley rats. In order to assess the effects of exercise, the rats were exercised from twenty one to fifty days of age for two reasons: 1) the mammary gland develops allometrically in the rat from about twenty one days of age to sixty days of age after which time it remains relatively static until pregnancy occurs, and 2) highest multiplicity of DMBA and NMU

induced mammary carcinomas occurs when the rats are inoculated at around fifty days of age, a time when the number of undifferentiated terminal end bud (TEB) structures and the rate of DNA synthesis is at its highest in the rat (Russo et al. 1982).

3.2 Methods

Two separate experiments were conducted to determine the effects of exercise on mammary gland development and epithelial cell proliferation. The first experiment involved two groups: sedentary (S1) and exercise (moderate intensity, short duration exercise) (MS). The second experiment involved four groups: one sedentary (S2) and three exercise groups; 1) moderate intensity, long duration (ML); 2) high intensity, short duration (HS); and 3) high intensity, long duration (HL).

3.2.1 Animals

Twenty one day old female Sprague-Dawley rats were obtained from Charles River Labs. Upon arrival, the rats were randomly divided in each experiment into sedentary or exercised groups (n=10 per group). In experiment 1, two rats from each group (S1 and MS) were lost over the course of the experiment. The rats were maintained on a twelve hour light dark cycle (lights on 7 p.m./ lights off 7 a.m.) and fed laboratory rodent diet 5001 ad libitum (Ralston Purina). The rats were housed in groups of five. All rats were weighed once a week for the duration of the study.

3.2.2 Exercise protocol

The exercised rats were exercised in a separate room five times per week during the dark cycle on a progressive treadmill training as outlined in table 3.1. The treadmills were

equipped with airjets at the back in order to keep the rats moving. Electrical shock was not used in the protocol. The rats were exercised for four weeks from 21 days of age to 50 days of age.

Days	final speed	final duration	incline
22-28	MS-12 m/min.	60 min.	15%
	ML- 13 m/min.	90 min.	
	HS-14 m/min.	60 min.	
	HL-14 m/min.	90 min.	
29-35	MS-14 m/min	60 min.	15%
	ML-16.5 m/min.	105 min.	
	HS-18 m/min.	60 min.	
	HL-18 m/min.	105 min.	
35-42	MS- 16 m/min	60 min.	15%
	ML- 18 m/min.	105 min.	
	HS-20 m/min.	60 min.	
	HL-20 m/min.	105 min.	
43-49	MS- 18m/min	60 min.	15%
	ML- 18 m/min.	120 min.	
	HS-20 m/min.	60 min.	
	HL-20 m/min.	120 min.	

Table 3.1. Exercise training protocol. Rats were exercised from twenty one days of age to fifty days of age on a motorized treadmill. MS= moderate intensity, short duration; ML=moderate intensity, long duration; HS=high intensity, short duration; HL=high intensity, long duration.

3.2.3 Tissue sampling

The rats were sacrificed at 50 days of age (24 hours after the last bout of exercise) via CO₂ asphyxiation. Mammary glands four and five were removed and fixed in methacarn for determining BrdU labeling index, which is used as an indice of proliferation rate. Mammary gland six was removed and processed for whole mount evaluation to assess developmental stage. For the exercise groups ML, HS, HL and the sedentary group S2, blood was collected via cardiac puncture and centrifuged at 600 x g for fifteen minutes. The serum was removed and stored at -20° C for the assessment of plasma prolactin levels. Soleus muscles were removed and stored at -20° C for the assessment of citrate synthase activity.

3.2.4 Bromodeoxyuridine (BrdU) Labeling Index

At 46 days of age the rats were injected twice daily (7:30 a.m. and 7:30 p.m.) ip. for four days with 0.15 mls of 20 mg/ml BrdU in 0.9% NaCl (pH 4.0) for a total of 58.6 μ mol

BrdU (ie. 8 injections per rat) immediately prior to termination. The exercised rats maintained their training during the four days of labeling. The four day (continuous labeling) approach is used because the labeling index (LI) is low in the mammary gland and it is affected by the stage of the estrous cycle, which is problematic in terms of sensitivity and sequencing a kill for an estrous cycle specific determination of LI. After fixation in methacarn (24 hours), the tissues were processed in the following sequence: a) absolute methanol-3hrs b) absolute methanol-3hrs c) methyl benzoate-3hrs d) methyl benzoate-3hrs e) xylene-1hrs f) paraffin-1hrs g) paraffin-1hrs h) paraffin-4hrs.

The tissue was embedded in paraffin blocks and 5 micron sections onto poly-L-lysine coated slides. Heat immobilized sections (60° C for 30 min.) were deparaffinized in xylene (3 x 5 min), immersed in descending grades of ethanol (100% ethanol 2 x 5 min.; 95% ethanol 1 x 5 min.; 80% ethanol 1 x 5 min.), rinsed in deionized water and subjected to mild acid hydrolysis with 2N HCl for 90 min. The slides were neutralized with 0.1M sodium

borate (1 x 5 min.). After rinsing with deionized water, endogenous peroxidase activity was blocked by immersing slides in 1.5% hydrogen peroxide (1 x 5 min.). After rinsing with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (3 x 5 min.), mouse Anti-BrdU (Becton Dickinson) (1:40) was applied for one hour. Slides were washed with PBS (3 x 5 min.) and then biotinylated rabbit anti-mouse (DAKO) (1:200) was applied for 30 min. After another wash with PBS (3 x 5 min.), conjugated streptavidin horse radish peroxidase (DAKO) (1:1000) was applied for thirty minutes. A wash in PBS (3 x 5 min.) was followed by a 10 min. incubation with diaminobenzadine (Sigma) and a rinse in deionized water. The slides were stained with hematoxylin (1 x 1min.), then dehydrated through a series of ethanols and xylene (95% ethanol 1 x 1 min.; 100% ethanol 2 x 1 min.; xylene 3 x 1 min.). The tissue was mounted with permount and scored according to a procedure adapted from Meyer et al. (1977). For each animal, sections of the entire mammary gland were screened to assess random distribution of proliferative cells. Five hundred consecutive ductal nuclei were counted and the number that stained positive noted. Similarly, 500 consecutive lobuloalveolar nuclei were counted and the number of positive nuclei within them noted.

3.2.5 Whole Mounts

Mammary gland six was removed and spread on a glass slide. The tissue was fixed in methacarn for twenty four hours. The fixative was removed and the slides were processed through a series of ethanol (100%, 95%, 70%) immersions of one hour each. This was followed by thirty minutes in distilled water. The tissue was stained with Alum Carmine overnight with distilled water being used for destaining. The slides were processed through the following series: two changes 70% ethanol, one hour each; two changes 95% ethanol, one hour each; two changes 100% ethanol, one hour each. The slides were then left in xylene overnight. The xylene was replaced with methyl salicylate and left for 2-3 days after which the methyl salicylate was replaced with xylene and left overnight. The slides were

then mounted with permount. The scoring for development was adopted from Welsch and O'Connor (1989): score 1= few ducts, few or no end ducts; score 2= moderate duct growth, moderate no. of end ducts; score 3= numerous ducts and branches, many end ducts; score 4= numerous ducts and branches, minimal lobuloalveolar growth; score 5= numerous ducts and branches, moderate lobuloalveolar growth; score 6= numerous ducts and branches, dense lobuloalveolar growth as in late pregnancy.

3.2.6 Prolactin assay

The rat prolactin EIA kit from Diagnostic Products Corporation (DPC) was used to assess basal prolactin levels in the serum of exercised and sedentary rats. Briefly, 25 μ l of standards, controls and serum samples were incubated with ligand labeled murine monoclonal anti-rat prolactin antibody and horseradish peroxidase-labeled murine monoclonal anti-rat prolactin antibody (100 μ l each) for two hours in a ligand-coated microplate. Rat prolactin anti-ligand(25 μ l) is added to all samples and incubated for one hour. All wells are washed four times and then substrate working solution (ophenylenediamine tablet, 25 ml rat prolactin buffered peroxide solution) is added (200 μ l). The samples are incubated in the dark for thirty minutes. Stop solutions are added to all wells (50 μ l and the plate is read at 492 nm. A standard curve is generated and the concentrations of the unknowns is interpolated and expressed as ng/ml.

3.2.8 Statistical analysis

Animal weights and prolactin levels were analyzed by one way analysis of variance (ANOVA). The development scores and BrdU labeling index was analyzed by the Mann

Whitney U test in experiment 1 and by the Kruskal Wallis test in experiment 2. Posthoc analysis was performed using the Tukey test for nonparametric data.

3.3 Results

In order to assess the effects of exercise on mammary gland development and epithelial cell differentiation, two sets of experiments were conducted. In the initial study, rats exercised at a moderate intensity, short duration (MS) and sedentary rats (S1) were compared (Table 3.1). To determine if intensity and/or duration had an effect on developmental scores or BrdU labeling index, a second set of experimental rats were divided into a sedentary group and three exercise groups (groups ML, HS, HL) which were run according to the protocol in Table 3.1. The gain in weight was recorded over the course of the exercise regime (Figure3. 1). There was no difference in animal weight between the exercised rats and their respective sedentary rats.



Figure 3.1. Animal weight gain over the course of the experiment in sedentary and exercised rats. The rats were exercised from twenty one to fifty days of age. There were no differences (p>.05). The values are expressed as means. S1= sedentary rats from experiment 1, S2= sedentary rats from experiment 2, MS= moderate intensity; short

duration; ML= moderate intensity, long duration; HS= high intensity, short duration; HL= high intensity, long duration.



Figure 3.2A and 3.2B. Developmental scores for sedentary and exercised groups. The rats were exercised from 21 days of age to 50 days of age, then sacrificed and mammary gland six was removed for whole mount preparation. There were no differences between the sedentary and exercised groups(p>.05). The values are expressed as means \pm S.E. Refer to figure 3.1 for figure legend.

The developmental status of the mammary glands at 50 days of age was assessed by scoring whole mount preparations of mammary gland six (figure 3.2A and 3.2B). Four weeks of exercise (regardless of intensity and/or duration) did not affect the development score at the time point tested, 50 days of age.

To assess the affects of chronic exercise on basal prolactin levels, blood samples were collected twenty fours hours after the last bout of exercise. There was no difference in prolactin levels between the sedentary and exercised groups (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3. Basal serum prolactin levels. Serum samples were collected twenty four hours after the last bout of exercise. There were no differences between the sedentary and exercise groups(p>.05). The values are expressed as means \pm S.E. Refer to figure 3.1 for figure legend.

The proliferation rate of mammary epithelial cells from sedentary and exercised rats was assessed by the bromodeoxyuridine labeling index (BrdU L.I.). The ductal and lobuloalveolar cells were scored separately. For the ductal cells, there was no difference in BrdU L.I. between sedentary and exercised groups (Figure 3.4A). However, the proliferation rate of the lobuloalveolar cells was significantly greater in all exercise groups compared to sedentary groups (Figure 3.4B). There was no difference between the three exercise groups.





expt 2





Figure 3.4. BrdU labeling index for A) ductal and B) lobuloalveolar cells from sedentary and exercised groups. The rats were exercised from 21 days of age to 50 days of age, then sacrificed and mammary glands 4 and 5 were removed. The bromodeoxyuridine labeling index (BrdU L.I.) is calculated as the percentage of proliferating cells. Ductal cells and lobuloalveolar cells were calculated separately. * The Lobuloalveolar cells from exercised rats have a significantly higher BrdU L.I. (p<.05). The values expressed are the means \pm S.E. Refer to figure 3.1 for figure legend.

3.4 Discussion

In this study, we assessed the effects of varying exercise intensity and/or duration on mammary gland development and epithelial cell proliferation. Exercise did not alter mammary gland development or serum levels of prolactin, a mammotrophic hormone. However, exercise significantly increased the proliferation rate of lobuloalveolar cells in the mammary gland. This was contrary to what we expected. Our hypothesis was that exercise would lower the proliferation rate, and 2) increase the degree of differentiation of mammary gland cells with an increased cell cycle.

Mammary gland development, assessed at 50 days of age, was the same for sedentary and exercised animals. At this time point most of the TEBs have differentiated into lobuloalveolar cells. Sampling at various times prior to 50 days of age would answer the question of whether exercise altered the rate of development ie. accelerated or retarded the morphological development of the mammary gland. Although we did not control for sampling at different times of the estrous cycle, it is unlikely that this would affect mammary gland differentiation. In studies using exercise intensities similar to ours, both Thompson et al. (1989) and Yedinak (1988) saw no effect of exercise on vaginal opening or estrous cycle periodicity. Because prolactin is involved in ductal maintenance and mammary gland development, we assessed the effects of exercise on basal serum prolactin levels. In parallel with the lack of observed changes in development, there was also no difference in serum prolactin levels between sedentary and exercised rats. The serum was collected 24 hours after the last bout of exercise in order to get a true representation of basal level. A more accurate assessment of prolactin requires knowledge of estrous cycle status as circulating prolactin levels increase 8 to 10 fold during proestrus compared to diestrus. Prolactin is but one hormone that is involved in the development of the rat mammary gland. Other hormones such as estrogen, progesterone and growth hormone need to be assessed.

One of the reasons we chose to look at the effects of exercise on mammary gland development was that energy balance studies which altered dietary intake have shown effects on sexual development in rats. The linking hypothesis is that if energy restriction affects development then the converse, increased energy expenditure may show similar effects. Arts et al. (1992) studied the effects of an energy restricted low fiber diet on mammary gland development and proliferation. They found a delayed vaginal opening, delayed mammary gland development and decreased proliferation in terminal end bud (TEB) cells but not ductal cells. Lok et al. (1990) used mice to study the effects of caloric restriction on mammary epithelial cell proliferation. As in the rat studies, dietary restriction resulted in decreased proliferation. Park et al. (1994) found energy restriction delayed vaginal opening. In each of these studies there was a significant decrease in body weight. In our study there was no difference in body weight between rats which were exercised and those that remained sedentary and this may have contributed to the lack of an effect of exercise on mammary gland development.

Proliferation rates of mammary epithelial cells from exercised and sedentary rats were determined following four weeks of moderate intensity exercise training. We used the four day continuous BrdU labeling method to control for the estrous cycle and to increase sensitivity of the assay. In comparing BrdU labeling and ³H thymidine labeling, Eldridge et al. (1990) found similar results with the two methods. Eldridge et al. (1990) also compared single injection vs. continuous administration and found the continuous methods to be more sensitive. Exercise increased the proliferation rates of lobuloalveolar cells in all intensity/durations tested. The importance of this increase is unkown as it is hypothesized that TEBs and not lobuloalveolar cells are the targets of carcinogenic attack (Russo et al. 1982).

The susceptibility of a cell to undergo malignant transformation depends on factors such as rates of DNA synthesis, cell proliferation, the length of G1 and S phases of the cell cycle and the cellular competency in DNA excision repair (Russo et al. 1982). These factors determine the ability of a carcinogen to bind to DNA and induce damage. In the next chapter, we address the question of whether or not there is increased damage in the mammary gland DNA derived from exercised rats.

Chapter IV Nitrosomethylurea Distribution, binding and induced DNA damage

4.1 Introduction

Carcinogenesis is a multistage process involving at least three steps: initiation, promotion and progression. Initiation is characterized by irreversible permanent change(s) in the DNA of target cells. Stable alteration of the DNA requires binding of a carcinogen to the DNA with maximal binding occurring during DNA synthesis (Russo and Russo 1991). DNA damage by carcinogens occurs mostly during the S phase of the cell cycle. If the damage is not repaired during the G1 phase, the damaged DNA is passed on to the daughter cells (Berenblum 1976; Frei and Harsano 1967; Kakunaga 1975; Marquardt et al. 1979). In order for a carcinogen to be effective it must reach the target cell and cause DNA damage. Nitrosomethylurea (NMU) is a direct acting carcinogen commonly used in rodent models to induce mammary tumorigenesis. Iv or ip. injections reproducibly and specifically induce mammary tumors. In this model, NMU exhibits a dose response with increased tumor incidence and decreased latency with increasing doses (Verdeal et al. 1982; McCormick et al. 1981; Thompson and Adlakha 1991; Anisimov 1988). Despite this finding, few investigators have examined the mechanism(s) of NMU induced tumorigenesis and no *in vivo* studies on mechanisms have been done.

A number of questions arise as to the process of NMU action. Because a dose response in tumor induction has been seen with increasing doses of NMU, we wanted to determine if there was both increased delivery of NMU to the mammary gland and binding to the DNA with increasing dosage of carcinogen. Secondly, we wanted to determine if there was increased DNA damage as indicated by the nick translation assay with an increasing dosage of NMU. The rat has six pairs of mammary glands with different regional locations:

cervical, thoracic, abdominal and inguinal (see Figure 1.4). Investigators have found more tumors induced in the cervical-thoracic chain than in the abdominal-inguinal chain (Thompson and Adlakha 1991; Russo and Russo 1987; Russo and Russo 1988). A question which arises is does gland location affect NMU binding and/or DNA damage?

In the previous chapter, the proliferation rate of mammary gland lobuloalveolar epithelial cells from exercised rats was significantly increased compared to those from sedentary rats. Thus the time available for DNA repair would have decreased and the number of cells susceptible to carcinogen attack would have increased. However, it is not known if this increased proliferation rate observed in exercised rats would lead to an increase in NMU induced DNA damage in mammary epithelial cells. NMU is a direct acting alkylating agent which spontaneously decomposes first to a diazonium intermediate and then to nitrogen and a carbonium ion (Margison and O'Connor 1978). Although exercise would not affect the metabolism of NMU it may alter its distribution through the bloodstream and to the target organ, the mammary gland. Secondly we have shown exercise alters proliferation rate of lobuloalveolar cells, this may affect methylation of mammary gland DNA by NMU.

Therefore, the purposes of this study were to determine 1) the binding characteristics of NMU at three different doses in each of the regional glands, cervical-thoracic, abdominal and inguinal, 2) DNA damage induced by NMU at three different doses in each of the regional glands, and 3) the effects of exercise on DNA damage in the individual mammary glands.

4.2 Methods

In experiment one, the binding and distribution of ³H NMU was assessed in sedentary rats. In experiment two, nick translation activity was assessed in mammary glands from sedentary and exercised rats.

4.2.1 Animals

Experiment one: Female Sprague Dawley rats were obtained from Charles River at 45 days of age. At fifty days of age the rats were randomly assigned to one of three groups (n=5) corresponding to either a low dose (25 mg NMU/kg) moderate dose (37.5 mg NMU/kg) or high dose (50 mg NMU/kg) of ³H NMU.

Experiment two: Twenty one day old female Sprague-Dawley rats were obtained from Charles River Labs. Upon arrival, the rats were randomly divided into two groups, sedentary (n=24) and exercised (n=12). Both groups were maintained in the same room on a twelve hour light dark cycle and fed laboratory rodent diet 5001 ad libitum (Ralston Purina). The rats were exercised for four weeks as per the protocol for MS exercise group in chapter 3 (final workload 18 m/min.; 60 min/day).

4.2.2 NMU preparation and administration

NMU was administered as described in Thompson and Adlakha (1991). Briefly, NMU was purchased from Ash Stevens and dissolved in 0.9% NaCl solution pH 4 (acidified with acetic acid) to a concentration of 14mg/ml. Each vial of NMU was used within 25 minutes of preparation. For experiment one, each animal received an ip. injection of N-[³H] methyl-N-nitrosourea (³H NMU) at a dose of either 25, 37.5 or 50 mg NMU/kg at fifty days of age. For every injection a tube of ³H NMU was prepared from x mls cold plus 200 µl ³H NMU (1 mCi/ml). X mls was determined by how much of the 14mg/ml stock NMU

was required in order to administer the appropriate dose of either 25, 37.5 or 50 mg NMU/kg. Each animal was weighed and the appropriate amount of NMU was delivered with an ip. injection. In experiment two, twenty four hours after the last bout of exercise (at fifty days of age), the exercised rats were given injections of either 37.5 or 50 mg NMU/kg body weight ip. (n=6/dose). The sedentary rats were given injections of either 25, 37.5 or 50 mg NMU/kg body weight ip. (n=8/dose). The injections took place at a rate of one animal every seven minutes.

4.2.3 Tissue collection

Two hours post injection the rats were euthanized by CO_2 asphyxiation. The rats were taken in the order they were injected, one every seven minutes. Mammary glands two through six were removed from the left and right sides with glands two and three pooled (thoracic), and glands four and five pooled (abdominal). The glands were frozen in liquid nitrogen and kept at -80° C until analysis. Mammary glands from the left and right sides were analyzed separately and the results were averaged. In experiment two, rats were taken as pairs (n=1) and glands were removed and pooled as above. For experiment one portions of the liver were removed and frozen in liquid nitrogen and kept at -80° C until analysis. Whole blood was collected from cardiac puncture and centrifuged at 600 x g for fifteen minutes. The serum was removed and stored at -20° C until analysis.

4.2.4 DNA isolation

Frozen mammary glands were pulverized under liquid nitrogen. The glands were placed in digestion buffer (100mM NaCl; 10 mM Tris pH 8.0; 0.5% SDS; 25 mM EDTA pH 8.0) at a concentration of 1.25 mls/100mg. The glands were incubated for fifteen minutes at 50° C in a shaking waterbath. 25 µl RNase A (11mg/ml) was added to the digestion mixture and

56

į.

incubated for 100 minutes in a 50°C shaking waterbath. Then 500 µl proteinase K (1.6 mg/ml) was added and the mixture was incubated overnight at 50°C in a shaking waterbath. The digested glands were removed from the waterbath and cooled on the bench for five minutes. 100 µl aliquots of homogenate were taken for determination of ³H NMU and its metabolites in whole mammary gland and set aside. 1.5 ml of 7.5M ammonium acetate was added to each sample which were then spun at 7700 x g for 40 minutes. The supernatant was decanted immediately and extracted twice with Sevag (Chloroform:isoamyl alcohol 24:1) spinning at 7700 x g for 5 minutes each time. The DNA was precipitated from the aqueous phase with cold 100% ethanol. The clump of DNA was transferred to an eppendorf tube and washed twice with 70 % ethanol. The pellet was air dried and resuspended in 750 µl TE buffer. In order to dissolve the DNA, the samples were incubated in the 50°C shaking waterbath overnight. DNA concentration was determined spectrophotometrically as follows: A 10 µl aliquot of each sample was added to 990 µl TE buffer and read at 235, 260 and 280 nm. Each sample was done in duplicate. To determine the amount of ³H methylation of each sample 10 ml Hionic Fluor was added to each sample and counted in the Beckman scintillation counter. For calculations see appendix.

4.2.5 Liver

The frozen liver samples were homogenized in 50 mM Tris Cl pH 8.0. The samples were added to 10 mls Ecolite and counted in the Beckman scintillation. The counts represent the presence of ³H NMU and its metabolites. For calculations see appendix.
4.2.6 Serum

200 µls of each sample was added to 10 mls Ecolite and counted in the Beckman scintillation counter. The counts represent the presence of ³H NMU and its metabolites. For calculations see appendix.

4.2.7 Epithelial cell isolation

The mammary glands were prepared for disaggregation by mincing with sterile scapel blades in petri dishes. The minced glands were incubated overnight at 37° C in disaggregation buffer (95% DME medium; 10mM HEPES buffer; 5% FCS; insulin 5 µg/ml; 0.15% collagenase). The epithelial cells were collected by centrifugation and washed twice with DME. The cells were counted in a haemocytometer.

4.2.8 Nick translation assay

This assay is modified from Nose and Okamoto (1983). The epithelial cell pellet was resuspended in 1ml of solution 1 (0.25 M sucrose; 0.1 M Tris HCl pH 7.4; 10 mM MgCl₂; 0.5 mM DTT). 100μ g/ml lysolecithin was added just before use. The samples were incubated on ice for five minutes and centrifuged at $1500 \times g$ for five minutes. The pellets were resuspended in 200 µl nick translation buffer (50 mM Tris HCl pH 7.4; 5 mM MgCl₂; 10 mM 2-mercaptoethanol; 50μ g/ml BSA; 0.05 mM each dATP, dGTP, dTTP and 5μ Ci/ml ³H dCTP; *E. coli* DNA polymerase I was added to 40 units/ml). The samples were incubated at room temperature for thirty minutes. Using the Millipore manifold, 1MM discs were prewetted with 2% pyrophosphate. Samples were applied to the discs washed with 5% TCA, 1% pyrophosphate and rinsed with ethanol. The discs were dried and

transferred to scintillation vials containing 10 mls scintillation cocktail. The samples were counted in the Beckman scintillation counter. For calculations, see appendix.

4.2.9 Statistical analysis

Results were analyzed by one way analysis of variance. Posthoc analysis was performed using Tukey's test.

4.3 Results

The presence of ³H NMU and its metabolites two hours post injection was determined in serum, liver and mammary gland tissue. The amount of ³H NMU and its metabolites in the serum and liver was greater with increasing amounts of injected ³H NMU (Figures 4.1 and 4.2).



Figure 4.1. Concentration of ³H NMU/metabolites (nM) in serum of rats injected with 25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³H NMU. * There is a significant difference between all three doses (p<.05). Values are expressed as means \pm S.E.



Figure 4.2. Concentration of ³H NMU/metabolites (nmoles NMU per gram liver) in liver samples from rats injected with 25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³H NMU. There is a significant difference between all three doses (p<.05) except for 25 mg NMU/kg vs. 37.5 mg NMU/kg. Values are expressed as means \pm S.E. * Significantly different from 25 mg NMU/kg. ** Significantly different from 37.5 mg NMU/kg.

Figure 4.3A demonstrates the amount of NMU/metabolites per gram of mammary tissue with increasing doses of NMU as a function of gland location: thoracic glands (2,3), abdominal glands (4,5) and inguinal glands (6). In general, the amount of NMU/metabolites detected in the tissue homogenate was not proportional to the amount of NMU injected into the animal. In the thoracic and abdominal glands, there was no difference between any of the doses tested. In the inguinal mammary gland, there was a significant increase in the amount of ³H NMU/metabolites bound when 50 mg NMU/kg is administered compared to 37.5 mg NMU/kg. In analyzing the amount of ³H methylation per mg DNA, there was a positive trend with increasing dose in all glands with 50 mg NMU/kg significantly higher than 25 mg NMU/kg(Figure 4.3B). The amount of methylation per mg DNA was increased approximately four times with a dose of 50 mg NMU/kg compared to 25 mg NMU/kg in the cervical and inguinal glands. In the abdominal and inguinal mammary glands there was also a significant difference between 50 mg NMU/kg and 37.5 mg NMU/kg. For the abdominal glands, the increased methylation appears to be linear. To determine if the glands took up different amounts of circulating ³H NMU/metabolites, the ratio of ³H methylation per mg DNA: ³H NMU/metabolites in serum was calculated. With the exception of the inguinal glands, there was no difference in the methylation per mg DNA when normalized for serum concentration. In the inguinal mammary glands, the ratio for 50 mg NMU/kg was significantly higher than both 25 mg NMU/kg and 37.5 mg NMU/kg (Figure 4.4A).

The nick translation assay was used as an assessment of DNA damage. The pattern within glands was similar to that observed for serum normalized NMU binding to mammary gland DNA. There was no difference between doses except for the inguinal glands where there was a significant difference between 37.5 and 50 mg NMU/kg (Figure 4.4B).



Figure 4.3A. Concentration of ³H NMU/metabolites (nmole NMU per gram tissue) in mammary gland homogenates comparing between the three doses 25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³H NMU within each mammary gland pair 2,3; 4,5; 6. * There is a significant difference between 50 mg NMU/kg and 37.5 mg NMU/kg (p<.05).



Β.

mammary gland

Figure 4.3B. Concentration of methylation (nmoles ³ H CH₃ /mg DNA) in mammary gland DNA comparing between the three doses 25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³H NMU within each mammary gland pair 2,3; 4,5; 6. *There is a significant difference between 25 mg NMU/kg and 50 mg NMU/kg; **There is a significant difference between 37.5 mg NMU/kg and 50 mg NMU/kg (p<.05). Values are expressed as means \pm S.E.



mammary gland

Figure 4.4A. Ratio of methylation/mg DNA: mM ³H NMU/metabolites in serum comparing between the three doses 25 37.5 and 50 mg NMU/kg within each mammary gland pair. *There is a significant difference between 50 mg NMU/kg and the other two doses (p>.05).



Figure 4.4B. The comparison of cpm per 10^5 cells between the three doses 25, 37.5 50 mg NMU/kg within each of the three gland pairs 2,3; 4,5; 6 in sedentary rats. * There is a significant difference in the amount of nick translation between a dose of 37.5 mg NMU/kg and 50 mg NMU/kg (p<.05). Values are expressed as means \pm S.E.

Β.

The results for mammary gland tissue were also analyzed within doses to determine the relationship between glands. In assessing the difference between glands, there was no difference in the amount of NMU/metabolites taken up by the individual mammary glands with two minor exceptions (Figure 4.5A). At a dose of 25 mg NMU/kg, there was significantly less ³H NMU/metabolites in the homogenate of thoracic mammary glands compared to abdominal and inguinal mammary glands. For a dose of 50 mg NMU/kg, inguinal mammary glands contained significantly more ³H NMU/metabolites in the homogenate compared to abdominal mammary glands. When analyzing the amount of ³H CH₃ per mg DNA, a clear pattern emerges. Abdominal mammary glands bound significantly less ³H CH₃ per mg DNA at all doses tested (Figure 4.5B). As well, the ratio of ³H CH₃/mg DNA: ³H NMU/serum was significantly less in abdominal mammary glands for all three doses (Figure 4.6A). Figure 4.6B demonstrates that nick translation activity was significantly decreased in the abdominal mammary glands.

The nick translation activity at doses of 37.5 and 50 mg NMU/kg was examined in mammary epithelial cells from sedentary and exercised rats. There was no difference in activity between the two groups (Figures 4.7A and 4.7B).



Figure 4.5A. Concentration of ³H NMU/metabolites (nmole NMU per gram tissue) in mammary gland homogenates comparing between the three glands 2,3; 4,5;6 within each dose 25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³H NMU. * The amount of ³H NMU in mammary gland 2,3 homogenate is significantly different from mammary glands 4,5 and mammary gland 6 with a dose of 25 mg NMU/kg; **the amount of ³H NMU in mammary gland 6 is significantly different from mammary gland 4,5 (p<.05).



Figure 4.5B. Concentration of methylation (nmoles ³ H CH₃/mg DNA) in mammary gland DNA comparing between the three glands 2,3; 4,5; 6 within the three doses 25, 37.5 or 50 mg/kg ³H NMU. * Mammary gland 4,5 is significantly different than mammary gland 2,3; ⁺Mammary gland 4,5 is significantly different than mammary gland 6 (p<.05). Values are expressed as means \pm S.E.



A.

NMU dose

Figure 4.6A. Ratio of nmole ${}^{3}H$ CH₃ /mg DNA: mM ${}^{3}H$ NMU in serum comparing between the three glands 2,3; 4,5; 6 within each dose 25 37.5 and 50 mg NMU/kg. *Mammary gland 4,5 is significantly different from mammary gland 2,3 and mammary gland 6 (p<.05).





Β.





Figure 4.7A. The comparison of cpm per 10^5 cells between sedentary and exercised rats within the three glands 2,3; 4,5; 6 at a dose of 37.5 mg NMU/kg. There are no differences (p>.05).

B. 50 mg NMU/kg



Figure 4.7B. The comparison of cpm per 10^5 cells between sedentary and exercised rats within the three glands 2,3; 4,5; 6 at a dose of 50 mg NMU/kg. There are no differences (p>.05). Values are expressed as means \pm S.E.

4.4 Discussion

The results of these experiments yield a number of interesting new observations relating to the NMU induced carcinogen model of mammary tumorigenesis. Increasing the amount of NMU injected increased the NMU/metabolites concentration in both the serum and liver. Methylation of mammary gland DNA was directly related to the NMU levels in the serum although not in a linear fashion. Abdominal mammary glands behaved differently than either thoracic or inguinal mammary glands by incorporating significantly less methylation. Patterns of NMU binding were mimicked in the patterns of DNA damage induced by NMU. Exercise had no effect on mammary gland DNA damage.

NMU is utilized as a mammary carcinogen in mice and rat studies for a number of reasons: 1) it is direct acting, requiring no activation by the host; 2) the hormone dependency of the tumors is similar to the human disease 3) the tumors are of ductal origin and have predominantly carcinomatous histopathology (Welsch 1985). NMU is administered to the animal with either an iv. or ip. injection. Thompson et al. have observed similar tumor induction and incidence with the two methods (Thompson and Adlakha 1991). Therefore we chose to use the ip. injection because of its relative simplicity. NMU dose response induction of mammary tumors has been studied using both iv. and ip. injections and single or multiple injections (Verdeal et al. 1982; McCormick et al. 1981; Thompson and Adlakha 1991). With any method there is an increase in tumor incidence and a decrease in latency with increasing dose. We wanted to test the dose response of NMU distribution in the rat. With an ip. injection the NMU solution is injected into the peritoneal cavity and absorbed by the venous system where it is carried back to the heart. The NMU is then distributed to the rest of the body via the arterial system. Using three doses of NMU (25, 37.5 and 50 mg NMU/kg), we saw a linear increase in the presence of NMU/metabolites in the serum. This suggests that as you increase the injection dose of NMU, the amount of NMU

available to various tissues is increased. The amount of mammary gland DNA methylation increased with increasing dose, although it does not appear to be in a linear fashion for the cervical and inguinal glands. This suggests the NMU incorporation is specific for DNA and is dose dependent. The fact that the increase is not linear (four times as DNA methylation at a dose of 50 mg NMU/kg compared to 25 mg NMU/kg) suggests that at 50 mg NMU/kg the system may be overloaded.

The dose of 50 mg NMU/kg is typically used in NMU induced mammary tumor studies because of rapid induction and multiple tumors. However this is not a true representation of the human disease in which there is typically only one tumor and multiple tumors arise from metastases rather than de novo tumors. A dose as high as 50 mg NMU/kg may be overloading the system and the effects of any intervention may be masked. Eight weeks post carcinogen administration the incidence of palpable tumors in rats administered 50 mg NMU/kg is 100% (Thompson and Adlakha 1991). The number of tumors per rat (multiplicity) at the end of the 28 week experimental period is 5.4 cancers/rat (Thompson and Adlakha 1991). By lowering the dose to 37.5 mg/kg, the incidence of of palpable tumors was 60% at 8 weeks and reached 96% at 20 weeks post carcinogen administration (Thompson and Adlakha 1991). The multiplicity at this dose is 3.4 cancers/rat (Thompson and Adlakha 1991). Due to the adequate tumor induction with 37.5 mg NMU/kg and its consistent behavior in terms of NMU binding we suggest it is a more feasible dose to use in mammary tumor studies. In order to generate a true dose response curve, more doses between 0 and 50 mg NMU/kg would need to be tested with larger sample sizes to decrease the within group variability.

With a minor exception, there was no difference in DNA methylation when normalized for NMU serum concentration. In other words the amount of NMU taken up by the mammary gland and DNA methylation was proportional to the amount of NMU circulating in the

blood. One would expect DNA damage to increase in a similar fashion to the increased DNA methylation. However, the nick translation results were not clear cut. One possible explanation is that the endogenous endonuclease repair mechanism may be a limiting factor in producing nicks in the damaged DNA. In the nick translation assay, the exogenous DNA polymerase recognizes nicked DNA. Another possibility is the variability and different behavior of mammary glands. Each gland location gave a different pattern between doses. Thoracic and inguinal mammary glands showed increased nick translation with 50 mg NMU/kg, however, abdominal mammary glands showed no difference between any of the doses tested. The amount of mammary gland DNA methylation was significantly less in abdominal glands than the other glands regardless of NMU dose administered. The same pattern was detected in the ratio of nmole ${}^{3}HCH_{3}$ per mg DNA: µM NMU in serum. The decreased amount of NMU and DNA damage could equate with fewer initiated cells and hence fewer tumors formed. This could explain the observation that more tumors develop in the cervical-thoracic region than in the abdominal-inguinal mammary gland chains irrespective of carcinogen dose (Thompson and Adlakha 1991; Russo and Russo 1987; Russo and Russo 1988). Russo and Russo hypothesized that this is due to the asynchronous development of the glands in different topographic areas: thoracic glands lag behind in development and retain higher concentrations of TEBs (Russo and Russo 1987; Russo and Russo 1988). The TEBs are the structures most susceptible to carcinogenic attack because of their high proliferation rate (Russo and Russo 1987). The cells of TEBs cycle approximately every ten hours, whereas the cells of alveolar buds (ABs) cycle approximately once every twenty eight hours (Russo and Russo 1980). The anatomical location of the mammary glands appears to be important in terms of NMU accumulation and DNA methylation. This suggests that either blood flow is a crucial factor in the delivery of NMU to target organs and/or the morphological and biochemical makeup of the glands is different and affects NMU uptake and subsequent methylation.

The lower nick translation activity could also reflect an increase in endogenous repair in abdominal mammary glands. In order to fully assess DNA repair in the mammary glands, a time course study would need to be conducted.

The main methylated product formed by NMU is O⁶ methylguanine. This product has been detected in codon 12 of the *Ha-ras* gene in mammary gland DNA. This causes a G to A transition and activates the *Ha-ras* gene. Many researchers believe this is an important event in initiation of NMU induced mammary tumorigenesis (Sukamar et al. 1983; Zarbl et al. 1985; Kumar et al. 1990). Zhang et al. (1990) have shown that with increasing dose of NMU there is a decrease in the activation of *Ha-ras*. Our studies have shown that with increasing administration there is increased delivery of NMU to the mammary gland DNA and increased DNA damage occurring. These results taken with those of Zhang et al. suggest mutations other than *Ha-ras* are occurring. NMU dose response studies on the presence of O⁶ methylguanine in mammary glands as well as the activity of alkyltransferase (enzyme responsible for removing methyl group) need to be assessed.

Finally we tested the effects of exercise on nick translation. Nick translation activity was not significantly higher in the mammary gland DNA from exercised rats. This does not correspond to the increased proliferation rate that we observed in mammary gland lobuloalveolar epithelial cells from exercised rats (chapter three). The fact that increased proliferation rate in lobuloalveolar cells does not lead to increased DNA damage supports the hypothesis that TEBS and not Abs are the target cells for carcinogenic attack. In order to understand why the increased proliferation rate in the lobuloalveolar cells did not lead to increased DNA damage, DNA repair capacity in the exercised glands needs to be assessed.

Because the mammary glands in different regional locations differed in terms of NMU binding and DNA damage, it is important to determine if it is the behavior of the cells within the gland or a characteristic of the gland itself. One way to assess this would be to conduct these studies on isolated epithelial cells.

Although the amount of DNA methylation increased with increasing dose, there was no difference in nick translation activity (DNA damage) between the doses. The abdominal glands showed consistently lower nick translation activity when compared to the thoracic and inguinal glands. Exercise had no effect on nick translation. In the next chapter we examine the effects of exercise on NMU induced mammary tumor outcome at 37.5 and 50 mg NMU/kg.

4.5 Appendix

4.5.1 Calculating nmoles NMU/mg DNA

In order to calculate nmoles NMU/mg DNA the specific activity of ³H NMU injected into animal must be calculated.

 $200 \ \mu\text{Ci}^{3}\text{H} \text{ NMU} \text{ plus } 0.320 \text{ ml cold NMU} (14 \text{ mg/ml}) = 4.48 \text{ mg}^{3}\text{H} \text{ NMU}.$

mmole= 4.48/103= 0.043

200 μ Ci/0.043mmole= **4.7 mCi/mmole**

Second, the counts of individual mammary gland are converted to dpm's:

cpm = 273.2 H# = 75 CE = 35

dpm = cpm/CE*100 = 780

cpm = counts per minute; H# = difference between quenched sample and unquenched sample; CE = counting efficiency; dpm = disintergrations per minute.

calculation of nmole NMU/mg DNA

DNA sample = 730 ul of 1.48 μ g/ul concentration

 $= 1080.4 \ \mu g$

 $2.2 \times 10^{6} \text{ dpm} = 1 \,\mu\text{Ci}$ therefore 780 dpm= $3.5 \times 10^{-4} \,\mu\text{Ci}$

4.7 mCi=1 mmole therefore 3.5×10^{-7} mCi=7.4x10⁻⁸ mmole

 7.4×10^{-8} mmole= 7.4×10^{-2} nmole

 7.4×10^{-2} nmole NMU/1080.4 µg DNA= .07 nmole NMU/ mg DNA

4.5.2 Calculating nmoles NMU/g liver

An example of how nmoles NMU/g liver was calculated is as follows:

specific activity of ³H NMU injected into animal = 4.9 mCi/mmole weight of liver sample = 0.0874g cpm = 1492.6 H# = 88 CE = 33 dpm = cpm/CE*100= 4428.43 calculation of nmole NMU/g liver $2.2x10^{6}$ dpm = 1µCi therefore 4428.43 dpm= 0.002 µCi 4.9 mCi= 1 mmole therefore $2x10^{-6}$ mCi= $4x10^{-7}$ mmole $4x10^{-7}$ mmole= $4x10^{-1}$ nmole $4x10^{-1}$ nmole NMU/0.0874 g liver= 4.58 nmole NMU/g liver

4.5.3 Calculating nM NMU in serum

Serum: 200 uls of each sample was added to 10 mls Ecolite and counted in the Beckman scintillation counter for ten minutes. Sample calculations are as follows:

specific activity of ${}^{3}H$ NMU injected into animal = 5.1 mCi/mmole

200 µl sample of serum

cpm = 127762.5 H#= 95 CE=30

dpm = cpm/CE*100 = 425875- 2515.2 = 423359.8 (control = 2515.2 dpm)

 $2.2 \times 10^{6} \text{ dpm} = 1 \mu \text{Ci}$ therefore 423359.8 dpm = 0.192 μCi

 $5.1 \text{ mCi} = 1 \text{ mmole therefore } 1.92 \times 10^{-4} \text{ mCi} = 3.7 \times 10^{-5} \text{ mmole}$

 3.7×10^{-5} mmole = 3.7×10^{-2} µmole

 $3.7 \times 10^{-2} \,\mu$ mole NMU/200 μ l serum = 0.000185 μ mole/ μ l

 $0.000185 \ \mu mole/\ \mu l = 0.000185 \ \mu M = 0.185 \ n M$

Chapter V The effects of treadmill running during puberty on subsequent NMU induced mammary tumorigenesis

5.1 INTRODUCTION

The association between exercise and breast cancer has been suggested in a number of epidemiological and laboratory studies. Some retrospective studies on former college athletes indicated exercise at an early age affects the lifetime occurrence of breast cancer incidence in a negative way, whereas others have shown no effect (Frisch et al. 1985; Frisch et al. 1987; Paffenbarger et al. 1987). These initial studies have led to a number of animal (rat and mice) studies examining the effects of exercise training on DMBA or NMU induced mammary tumors. There are conflicting results in terms of tumor incidence, latency and multiplicity in these studies (Cohen et al. 1988; Cohen et al. 1991; Lane et al. 1991; Thompson et al. 1988; Thompson et al. 1989). The differences reported in these investigations, at least in part, are likely due to the different exercise intensities, durations, length of training programs, the timing of the exercise program and the amount and type of carcinogen used (Cohen et al. 1988; Cohen et al. 1991; Lane et al. 1991; Thompson et al. 1988; Thompson et al. 1989). Despite the different effects of exercise on tumor outcome, it is apparent that exercise can be used to alter tumorigenesis in the DMBA or NMU-induced rat model (Cohen et al. 1988; Cohen et al. 1991; Lane et al. 1991; Thompson et al. 1988; Thompson et al. 1989). The studies conducted to date have for the most part focused on implementing exercise programs two weeks after the administration of the carcinogen corresponding to the promotion phase of tumor growth.

The question of exercise having a protective effect needs to be addressed from the point of implementing exercise at an early age before the carcinogen has been administered in order to determine if the exercise through some mechanism can place the mammary gland in a

protective state (ie. it is resistant to carcinogenic attack). Although other investigators have studied the effects of exercise both prior to and during carcinogen administration on subsequent tumor development (Yedinak et al. 1988; Thompson 1994), to our knowledge we are the first to exercise rats for only the four weeks prior to carcinogen administration. The effects of exercise on tumor outcome may be dependent upon the timing (precarcinogen, pre/post carcinogen) of the exercise training. In this respect, exercise at different times relative to the stage of tumor development may act through different mechanisms to alter tumorigenesis. Since epidemiological studies have shown that exercise early in life may decrease breast tumor development at a later age, we felt it was necessary to investigate this further in an animal model. We therefore conducted two experiments using two different doses of NMU, 50 mg NMU/kg and 37.5 mg NMU/kg respectively, comparing sedentary and exercised rats. A number of studies utilize a dose of 50 mg NMU/kg, which will induce multiple tumors if administered at 50 days of age. One of the questions we addressed was, does the higher amount of NMU override any beneficial effect of exercise?

The purpose of this investigation was to determine the effects of moderate exercise training during peripuberty on subsequent NMU induced mammary tumorigenesis at two doses of NMU.

5.2 METHODS

The effects of exercise prior to carcinogen administration on subsequent tumor development was performed in two separate studies, one with a dose of 50 mg NMU/kg body weight and one with a dose of 37.5 mg NMU/kg body weight.

5.2.1 Animals

For both the 37.5 mg NMU /kg (n=80) and the 50 mg NMU/kg study (n=60), twenty one day old female Sprague-Dawley rats were obtained from Charles River Labs. Upon arrival, the rats were randomly and equally divided into two groups, sedentary and exercised. Over the course of the experiment a total of five rats were lost from the 50 mg NMU/kg study resulting in a final n=29 for the sedentary and n=26 for the exercised groups. Both sedentary and exercised rats were maintained in the same room on a twelve hour light dark cycle and fed laboratory rodent diet 5001 ad libitum. The rats were exercised for four weeks from 21 days of age to 50 days of age according to the protocol for the MS group in chapter 3 (Table 3.1).

5.2.2 Nitrosomethylurea (NMU) administration

NMU was administered as described in Thompson and Adlakha (1991). Briefly, NMU was purchased from Ash Stevens and dissolved in 0.9% NaCl solution pH 4 (acidified with acetic acid) to a concentration of 14mg/ml. The carcinogen was used within an hour of preparation. At 50 days of age, twenty four hours after the last bout of exercise, the rats were given injections of 37.5 or 50 mg NMU/kg body weight ip. Rats were palpated two times per week for detection of mammary tumors. The experiment was terminated twenty four weeks following carcinogen administration.

5.2.3 Necropsy

The rats were euthanized with gaseous carbon dioxide and skinned. The location of all tumors were noted and compared to palpation records. Tumors were removed and fixed in methacarn. Tissues were then processed for routine histological evaluation. Paraffin sections (5 micron) were prepared and stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Mammary تسعر

tumors were classified histologically as recommended by Young and Hallowes (1973). Those tumors which were confirmed to be carcinomas were used to determine cancer incidence, cancer latency and the average number of cancers per animal in each treatment group.

5.2.4 Food intake

For the rats injected with 37.5 mg NMU/kg, food intake was monitored twice a week by measuring the amount placed in the cage minus the amount left at changeover.

5.2.5 Statistical Analysis

Tumor incidence was analyzed by the method of Peto (18), while multiplicity was analyzed with the Wilcoxon Rank sums test. Latency was analyzed with the SAS lifetest. Growth rate, tumor weight and food intake were analyzed by the Student t test.

5.3 RESULTS

The rats in the exercise group were trained from 21 days of age to 50 days of age. At the end of the training period (50 days of age) there was no significant difference in weight between exercised and sedentary rats (Figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1. Animal weights after exercise training from 21 days of age until 50 days of age and prior to injection of either 37.5 or 50 mg NMU/kg.

An injection of 50 mg NMU/kg resulted in a total (palpated and nonpalpated) of 60 tumors in the sedentary rats and 35 in the exercised rats. The location of each tumor is identified in figures 5.2a and 5.2b respectively. The upper quadrant is defined as mammary glands 1, 2 and 3, while the lower quadrant encompasses mammary glands 4, 5 and 6. For the

sedentary animals, 31 tumors are in the upper quadrant and 29 are in the lower quadrant. In each group, two tumors were identified as benign and were removed from further analysis.



Figure 5.2a. Location of tumors in sedentary rats injected with 50 mg NMU/kg. The circles tumors represent benign tumors.



Figure 5.2b. Location of tumors in exercised rats injected with 37.5 mg NMU/kg. The circled tumors represent benign tumors.

As depicted in figure 5.3, there was a significant difference between total number of malignant tumors between the sedentary and exercised groups (58 vs. 33). The total number of malignant tumors is equal to the summation of all the tumors per experimental group. In each group 9 tumors were discovered at necropsy.



Figure 5.3. Cumulative number of palpable mammary cancers as a function of time post carcinogen administration. Fifty day old rats were given ip. injections of 37.5 or 50 mg NMU/kg. *There is a significant difference in total tumor number between the exercised and sedentary groups for rats injected with 50 mg NMU/kg (p<.05).

By lowering the dose of NMU to 37.5 mg NMU/kg, a total of fifty tumors in sedentary and forty three tumors in exercised rats were induced. The location of tumors in animals

injected with 37.5 mg NMU/kg is depicted in figure 5.4a and 5.4b. For the sedentary animals 30 tumors were in the upper quadrant and 20 in the lower quadrant. In the exercised animals, 20 tumors were in the upper quadrant and 23 were in the lower quadrant. Of these tumors, seven were benign in the sedentary group and five were benign in the exercised group.



Figure 5.4a. The location of tumors in sedentary rats injected with 37.5 mg NMU/kg. The circled tumors represent benign tumors.



Figure 5.4b. The location of tumors in exercised rats injected with 37.5 mg NMU/kg. The circled tumors represent benign tumors.

As seen in figure 5.3 there was no difference between the total number of malignant tumors in each group (43 vs. 36). For each group twenty two malignant tumors were palpated and

at necropsy in the sedentary group twenty one malignant tumors were discovered and in the exercise group fourteen malignant tumors were identified.

Figures 5.5 reveals the pattern of tumor incidence over the course of the experiment for doses of 50 mg NMU/kg and 37.5 mg NMU/kg. Incidence is defined as the percentage of rats bearing tumors in an experimental group. From time 0 to 15 weeks post carcinogen, the pattern of tumor incidence is nearly identical in the sedentary and exercised rats injected with 50 mg NMU/kg (Figure 5.5). From 15 weeks until termination the two curves diverge slightly, with incidence increasing at a faster rate in the sedentary rats although this was not statistically significant. Seventy five percent of the sedentary and 73% of the exercised rats had malignant tumors. Of these, 69% of the sedentary and 61.5% of the exercised rats had palpable tumors. For rats injected with 37.5 mg NMU/kg the final tumor incidence, although lower in the exercised groups (47.5%), was not significantly different from the sedentary groups (55%). Of these, 35% and 37.5% respectively were palpable.



Figure 5.5. Incidence of mammary cancer (expressed as a percentage) as a function of time post carcinogen administration. Fifty day old rats were given ip. injections of either 37.5 or 50 mg NMU/kg body weight. There is no significant difference between exercised and sedentary rats (p>.05).

Multiplicity (number of tumors per rat) is determined by dividing the total number of tumors per group by the number of rats bearing tumors. The multiplicity was significantly reduced in the exercised rats at a dose of 50 mg NMU/kg (Table 5.2). The differences between the exercised and sedentary rats in terms of multiplicity was not seen at 37.5 mg NMU/kg.
For rats injected with 50 mg NMU/kg, there was no difference in latency for total malignant tumors (palpated and nonpalpated) between sedentary and exercised rats (128.2 ± 4.2 days vs. 128.2 ± 6.3 days respectively) or for palpated malignant tumors (120.5 ± 4.12 days sedentary vs. 117.2 ± 6.4 days exercised). In rats injected with 37.5 mg NMU/kg, although the mean latency period for total malignant tumors was 121.4 ± 5.2 days, this was not significantly different from the sedentary group (129.5 ± 4.0 days). In addition, there was no significant difference in the latency period for palpated malignant tumors between exercised and sedentary groups (97.8 ± 4.2 vs. 108 ± 4.2 days respectively).

group	n	final incidence	total tumor	number of tumors per	latency (days)	growth rate (g/day)	tumor weight
375 mg		(%)	number	rat			(grams)
NMU/kg							
sedentary	40	55	43	1.08 <u>+</u> 0.22	129.5 <u>+</u> 4.0	0.063 <u>+</u> 0.022	1.2 <u>+</u> 0.34
exercised	40	47.5	36	0.90 <u>+</u> 0.22	121.4 <u>+</u> 5.2	0.124 <u>+</u> 0.03*	3.2 <u>+</u> 0.74*
50 mg NMU/kg							
sedentary	29	75	58	2.0 <u>+</u> 0.35	128.2 <u>+</u> 4.2	0.084 <u>+</u> 0.018	2.6 <u>+</u> 0.67
exercised	26	73	33*	1.3 <u>+</u> 0.24*	128.2 <u>+</u> 6.3	0.070 <u>+</u> 0.017	2.1 <u>+</u> 0.65

Table 5.2. The effects of exercise on total tumor parameters in rats injected with 37.5 and 50 mg NMU/kg. The rats were exercised from 21 D.O.A. to 50 D.O.A. and then remained sedentary until the termination of the experiment at 24 weeks post carcinogen administration. ^aThis value was calculated using only those rats which had tumors. ^{*}There was a significant difference between exercised and sedentary (p<.05)

There was no difference in final total tumor weights between sedentary and exercised rats injected with 50 mg NMU per kg body weight $(2.6 \pm 0.67 \text{ g vs. } 2.1 \pm 0.65 \text{ g})$. Nor was there a difference in growth rates between the two groups $(0.084 \pm 0.018 \text{ g/day} \text{ vs. } 0.070 \pm 0.017 \text{ g/day})$. For the 37.5 mg NMU/kg study there was a significant difference in tumor growth rate between the sedentary $(0.063 \pm 0.022 \text{ g/day})$ and exercised $(0.124 \pm 0.03 \text{ g/day})$ groups. As well there was a significant difference in final tumor weight $(1.2g \pm 0.34 \text{ vs. } 3.2 \pm 0.74 \text{ g})$. Figure 5.6 demonstrates significantly increased food intake for the exercised rats from weeks 2 to 8 inclusive.



Figure 5.6. Food intake for sedentary and exercised rats injected with 37.5 mg NMU/kg. *There is a significant difference between the two groups from weeks 2 to 8 inclusive (p<.05).

5.4 Discussion

Carcinogen induced mammary tumorigenesis is an accepted animal model for studying breast cancer. Because the carcinogen is administered at a certain time, the effects of perturbations both before and after the administration can be assessed. The effects of exercise on mammary tumorigenesis has previously been assessed by utilizing training programs that are initiated two weeks post carcinogen administration corresponding to the promotion phase of tumorigenesis (Cohen et al. 1988; Cohen et al. 1991; Lane et al. 1991; Thompson et al. 1988; Thompson et al. 1989). These studies have shown conflicting results in that exercise can either inhibit or enhance mammary tumorigenesis. Exercise during the promotion phase directly influences the development and growth of a tumor. We wanted to address the question of exercise before carcinogen administration to determine if this perturbation affects the initiation phase and subsequent tumor development.

In this chapter the effects of four weeks of exercise prior to NMU administration on subsequent tumor development was assessed using two doses of NMU, 37.5 and 50 mg NMU/kg. The results of the experiment utilizing 50 mg NMU/kg suggest that an increase in physical activity, achieved through treadmill exercise of moderate intensity for four weeks during peripuberty, can alter the induction of mammary tumorigenesis by NMU in the rat in a positive way. Specifically, those rats exercised prior to carcinogen administration demonstrated reductions in the total number of tumors which corresponds to a decreased number of tumors per animal. There was a trend of lower final tumor incidence and longer latency in the exercised rats; however, these values were not significantly different from the sedentary controls. It appears that exercise is affecting NMU induced mammary tumorigenesis in such a way as to reduce the total number of tumors but not strong enough to be affecting incidence. This effect is not due to changes in mammary gland development

or epithelial cell proliferation which was investigated in chapter 3. Other possibilities include alterations in the immune system and/or residual effects of exercise that affected the promotion phase of tumorigenesis. An NMU dose of 50 mg/kg is routinely used in the rat mammary tumor model as it induces incidences between 70 and 100%. However this dose may be too high for a substantial effect of exercise to occur. Cohen has reported carcinogen dose dependent effects of voluntary exercise using the carcinogen

dimethylbenz[a]anthracene (Cohen et al. 1993). With both a low (5 mg/rat) and high (10 mg/rat) dose of DMBA, voluntary activity significantly decreased total tumor number. Latency was significantly lengthened in the low but not high group, while multiplicity was significantly decreased in high but not the low DMBA group (Cohen et al 1993). In order to determine if the dose of 50 mg NMU/kg was too high to see any effects, in the present study the NMU dose was lowered to 37.5 mg/kg. The effect of exercise on multiplicity was lost with the lower dose and as with 50 mg NMU/kg there was no difference in latency or incidence of tumors. One possible explanation is that with more time, exercise may have shown an effect at 37.5 mg NMU/kg. At necropsy 21 tumors were discovered in the sedentary group and only 14 tumors in the exercised group. One limitation of animal carcinogen models is the longer the duration of the study the more animals you lose to tumor burden. Tumors isolated from exercised rats injected with 37.5 mg NMU/kg had a significantly faster growth rate and larger tumor weight than their sedentary counterparts. Two other investigations have looked at the effects of exercise on the initiation phase of carcinogenesis (Yedinak et al. 1988; Thompson 1994). Yedinak et al. (1988) observed a significant decrease in tumor incidence in rats exercised 3 weeks prior to and 3 weeks post DMBA administration, compared to sedentary rats. In order to assess the effects of exercise on the initiation of mammary tumorigenesis, Thompson exercised rats from twenty two days of age until fifty seven days of age, one week past carcinogen administration (Thompson 1994). Thompson (1994) tested both NMU and DMBA. There was no effect of exercise on tumor outcome regardless of the dose of NMU (25 or 50 mg/kg). However with DMBA

exercise reduced the tumor incidence. Our results and those of Yedinak and Thompson suggest that the mechanism through which early exercise affects tumorigenesis is by altering the metabolism of DMBA and that exercise may have a more subtle effect on the NMU model. NMU and DMBA function in two distinct ways: NMU is direct acting, while DMBA requires host activation.

For our study, the rats were exercised during the first 4 weeks of the experiment and then were sedentary for the remainder of the study. The food intake of exercised rats was significantly increased compared to sedentary rats in weeks 2 to 8 inclusive. Female rats typically increase their food intake in response to increased energy expenditure (Hoffman-Goetz and MacDonald 1983). The increased caloric intake may have counterbalanced any effect of exercise at initiation. Additionally the food intake was still elevated four weeks after exercise ceased. This could have had a promoting effect on tumor development. Caloric restriction inhibits the development of rodent mammary tumors (reviewed in Welsch 1992). There is a positive relationship between caloric consumption and rodent mammary gland tumorigenesis (reviewed in Welsh 1992).

The tumor incidence, total number of tumors and tumor multiplicity were higher in the rats injected with 50 mg NMU/kg compared to 37.5 mg NMU/kg in both the sedentary and exercised rats. In the previous chapter, we observed an increased amount of NMU bound to mammary gland epithelial cell DNA when the dose administered to the rat was increased from 37.5 mg NMU/kg to 50 mg NMU/kg. The results from this study suggest that the increased binding of NMU leads to increased induction of tumors.

In general, we detected more tumors in the upper quadrant that in the lower quadrant. In the previous chapter the abdominal glands bound significantly less NMU and contained

significantly less DNA damage. However, in this study, we could not distinguish between tumors that arose from the abdominal and inguinal glands.

In our experiments, particularly with a dose of 37.5 mg NMU/kg exercise had adverse effects on food intake, tumor growth rate and tumor weight, nevertheless, no effect on tumor incidence was observed, suggesting that some mechanism is counteracting these effects. Two possibilities are alteration of the immune system and/or increased capacity for DNA repair.

Tumors from exercised rats injected with 37.5 mg NMU/kg exhibited faster growth rates. Estrogen and insulin-like growth factor-I are believed to be involved in breast cancer. In the next chapter, we assess the presence of estrogen receptor and IGF-I receptor in NMU induced tumors and the relationship of the receptor content to growth rate.

	37.5 mg NMU/kg		50 mg NMU/kg		
	Sedentary	Exercised	Sedentary	Exercised	
animals	40	40	29	26	
total tumors	50	43	60	35	
р	26	26	51	26	
np	24	17	9	9	
carcinomas	43	36	58	33	
р	22	22	49	24	
np	21	16	9	9	
benign	7	5	2	2	
rats-p	17	15	20	16	
rats-np	7	5	2	3	
total	24	20	22	19	
rats with m-p & np	22	19	22	19	
% of rats with m-p & np	55%	47.5%	75.9%	73%	
rats with m-p	15	14	20	16	
% of rats with m-p	37.5%	35%	69%	61.5%	
latency-m,b,p	105 <u>+</u> 4.3 days	99.3 <u>+</u> 4.0 days	120.6 <u>+</u> 4.1 days	116.9 <u>+</u> 6.0 davs	
latency-m,p	108 <u>+</u> 4.2 days	97.8 <u>+</u> 4.2 days	120.5 ± 4.1 days	117.2 <u>+</u> 6.4 days	

latency-	127.5 <u>+</u> 4.0	120.8 <u>+</u> 4.8	128.0 <u>+</u> 4.2	127.3 <u>+</u> 6.0
m,b,p,np	days	days	days	days
latency-m,p,np	129.5 <u>+</u> 4.0	121.4 <u>+</u> 5.2	128.2 <u>+</u> 4.2	128.2 <u>+</u> 6.3
	days	days	days	days
growth rate-	0.068 <u>+</u> 0.019	0.115 <u>+</u> 0.025	0.08 <u>+</u> 0.018	0.069 <u>+</u> 0.015
m,b,p,np	g/day	g/day	g/day	g/day
growth rate-m,p	0.063 <u>+</u> 0.022	0.124 <u>+</u> 0.029	0.084 <u>+</u> 0.018	0.070 <u>+</u> 0.017
	g/day	g/day	g/day	g/day
tumor weight- m,b,p	2.58 <u>±</u> 0.59 g	4.9 <u>+</u> 1.10 g	2.9 <u>+</u> 0.76 g	2.7 <u>+</u> 0.74 g
tumor weight- m,p	2.1 <u>+</u> 0.48 g	5.2 <u>+</u> 1.26 g	3.0 <u>+</u> 0.78 g	2.6 <u>+</u> 0.80 g
tumor weight- m,b,p,np	1.4 <u>+</u> 0.34 g	3.1 <u>±</u> 0.74 g	2.53 <u>+</u> 0.65 g	2.2 <u>+</u> 0.61 g
tumor weight- m,p,np	1.2 <u>+</u> 0.28 g	3.2 <u>+</u> 0.81 g	2.6 <u>+</u> 0.67 g	2.1 <u>+</u> 0.65 g

Table 5.5.1. Characteristics of tumors removed from rats injected with either 37.5 or 50 mg NMU/kg. m = malignant tumors; b = benign tumors; p = palpated; np = nonpalpated.

Chapter VI Insulin-like growth factor I receptors and estrogen receptors in NMU induced mammary tumors

6.1 Introduction

IGF-I is a growth factor believed to be involved in breast cancer. IGF-I appears to function in a paracrine manner, it is expressed in stromal cells and acts upon carcinoma cells (Rosen et al. 1991). IGF-I elicits its effects through the membrane bound IGF-I receptor. IGF-I receptor mRNA and protein have been detected in human malignant breast tissue (Pollack et al. 1987; Peyrat et al. 1988; Cullen et al. 1990). A positive link between IGF-I and estrogen receptor protein levels has been suggested (Peyrat et al. 1989; Peyrat and Boneterre 1992). Estrogen receptors have been characterized in NMU tumors with $17\beta^{3}H$ estradiol receptor binding assays (Arafah et al. 1980; Turcot-Lemay and Kelly 1980; Manni et al. 1982). To our knowledge, the IGF-I receptor has not been studied in the NMU induced mammary tumor model. In the previous chapter, exercise significantly increased the tumor growth rate and size of mammary tumors induced by 37.5 mg NMU/kg. In this study we measured the levels of IGF-I and estrogen receptors in normal mammary tissue and tumors from sedentary rats to determine if the amount of receptor was increased in the tumor. We also looked at any differences between sedentary and exercised tumors in terms of receptors and looked at the relationship between receptor content and growth rate, latency and weight of tumors.

6.2 Methods

6.2.1 Receptor isolation

Previously frozen samples of mammary glands or mammary tumors were homogenized in HEPES buffer (100mM N-2-hydroxyethylpiperazine-N'-2-ethane sulfonic acid (HEPES),

5 mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100) containing protease inhibitors (2 mM phenylmethylsulfonylfluoride (PMSF), 1mM bacitracin, 1 mg/ml each of benzamidine, N α -Tosyl-L-arginine methyl ester, N α -Benzoyl-L-arginine ethyl ester, 1TIU/ml aprotinin, 60 μ M pepstatin and 60 μ M leupeptin). Homogenized samples were centrifuged at 20,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was incubated on ice for 30 minutes with frequent vortexing. The samples were centrifuged at 150,000 x g for 30 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and protein concentration determined with Bradford microassay. The samples were lyophilized overnight.

6.2.2 SDS PAGE Electrophoresis and protein transfer

The dried samples were resuspended in 1X urea buffer ($2\% \beta$ -mercaptoethanol, 8 M urea, 1% SDS, 0.1 M TRIS pH 6.8) at a concentration of 2400 µg/ml. The proteins were separated on a 8% SDS PAGE with 312 µg loaded in each lane. The proteins were transferred to PVDF membrane in Tris/glycine buffer with 5% methanol, running at a constant current of 420 mAmps for three hours. The membrane was stained with Ponceau Red to verify that transfer had occurred. The membrane was washed in 1X TBST for fifteen minutes and then blocked in 3% BSA,1X TBST for ninety minutes. The membrane was washed three times with 1X TBST. The membrane was incubated overnight with primary antibody shaking at 4°C (estrogen 1:10,000; IGF-I α 1:5000). The membrane was then washed three times with 1X TBST and incubated for 90 min. with secondary antibody shaking at room temperature (estrogen 1:20,000; IGF-I α 1:30,000). The membrane was washed once with 1X TBST and twice with 1X TBS. The membrane was incubated for one minute with ECL reagents and exposed to hyperfilm for varying times.

6.2.3 Receptor quantification

Relative quantification of the receptor concentration was accomplished by scanning exposed films on an Hewlett Packard scanner and using NIH Image 5.1 to determine area under the peaks.

6.2.4 Statistical Analysis

Receptor levels were analyzed by the Student t test and correlation coefficients.

6.3 Results

Estrogen and IGF-I receptor levels were measured in NMU induced tumors from sedentary rats and normal mammary glands from age matched rats. The amount of IGF-I receptor α subunit protein was significantly increased in tumors when expressed per μ g protein (33%) (Table 6.1). When expressed per mg tissue the tumors expressed 395% more IGF-I α subunit protein. Estrogen receptor content was significantly increased in tumor tissue compared to normal with an increase of 222% when expressed as per μ g protein and 485% when expressed per mg tissue (Table 6.1). The total protein yield was also significantly greater from the sedentary tumors compared to the normal mammary gland tissue (Table 6.1). The anti estrogen receptor antibody detected three protein bands in the tumor samples and only one in the normal tissue (Figure 6.1). The molecular weights of the three bands were 81, 75 and 69 kDa.

Receptor levels were measured in tumors from sedentary and exercised rats. Estrogen receptor and IGF-I receptor content expressed per μ g protein were not significantly different in tumors from sedentary and exercised rats (Table 6.1). However, when normalized for total protein content per milligram tissue the tumors from exercised rats have significantly less receptor content (Table 6.1). The tumors from sedentary rats had a significantly higher total protein yield (38%).

	Total				
Group	protein yield	IGF-I receptor		Estrogen receptor	
	µg protein per mg tissue	per µg protein	per mg tissue	per µg protein	per mg tissue
normal					
mammary	13.5 <u>+</u> 2.9	7.5 <u>+</u> .32	15.1 <u>+</u> 7.0	6.2 <u>+</u> .12	25.2 <u>+</u> 4.9
gland(n=4)					
sedentary					
tumor(n=4)	*23.6 <u>+</u> 1.5	*10.0 <u>+</u> .55	*74.8 <u>+</u> 1.5	*20.0 <u>+</u> 1.7	*147.4 <u>+</u> 12.3
sedentary		<u>,</u>			<u></u>
tumor(n=14)	*23.7 <u>+</u> 2.8	10.5 <u>+</u> .57	*75.0 <u>+</u> 5.7	19.6 <u>+</u> 1.6	*142.8 <u>+</u> 14.5
exercised					
tumor(n=13)	17.2 <u>+</u> .97	9.4 <u>+.</u> 96	50.9 <u>+</u> 4.6	18.4 <u>+</u> 1.14	106.8 <u>±</u> 10.52

Table 6.1. Receptor content in NMU induced tumors from sedentary and exercised rats. The receptor number is expressed in arbitrary units. * Significantly different from control (p<.05). Values are expressed as means ± S.E.



Figure 6.1. Immunoblot determination of A. estrogen receptor content and B. IGF-I receptor content in normal mammary tissue vs. mammary tumor. From left to right, in lane one are molecular weight markers; in lanes two to five are tumor samples; in lanes six to nine are normal mammary gland samples. T= tumor, N= normal

107

Α.

To analyze relationships between receptor number and growth rate, final tumor weight and tumor latency, results from sedentary and exercised tumors were pooled together. There was no significant difference in estrogen receptor number for tumors that had growth rates less than 0.1 grams per day or greater than 0.1 grams per day (Table 6.2). Similarly estrogen receptor number had no influence on latency or final tumor weight (Table 6.2). Correlation coefficients support this data (Table 6.3). However, when tumors from sedentary and exercised rats were analyzed separately, tumors from exercised rats showed a much stronger positive relationship between estrogen receptor number (per μ g protein) and growth rate (Table 6.3, figure 6.2). This relationship was also seen with tumor weight.

	Growth rate		Latency		Tumor weight	
	0-0.1	>0.1	<100	>100	< 3	> 3
	g/day	g/day	days	days	grams	grams
Estrogen receptor						
per μg protein	7.6 <u>+</u> .52	8.9 <u>+</u> .58	7.5 <u>+</u> .51	8.0 <u>+</u> .64	7.8 <u>+</u> .54	7.8 <u>+</u> .67
per mg tissue	50.3 <u>+</u> 4.9	54.9 <u>+</u> 10	49.1 <u>+</u> 4.5	49.1 <u>+</u> 6.5	48.4 <u>+</u> 5.6	50.0 <u>+</u> 5.7
IGF 1 receptor						
per µg protein	5.8 <u>+</u> .40	4.9 <u>+</u> 50	5.1 <u>+</u> .53	6.0 <u>+</u> .28	*6.3 <u>+</u> .28	4.9 <u>+</u> .49
per mg tissue	36.5 <u>+</u> 2.6	33.5 <u>+</u> 6.1	32.5 <u>+</u> 3.3	38.7 <u>+</u> 3.4	37.1 <u>+</u> 2.0	33.7 <u>+</u> 4.6

Table 6.2. Receptor content in relation to growth rate, tumor latency and tumor weight. The results for NMU induced mammary tumors from sedentary and exercised rats were pooled together. The receptor number is expressed in arbitrary units. Values are expressed as means \pm S.E.

Receptor	Receptor Growth rate		Tumor weight
Estrogen			
S and E	0.192	0.064	0.110
sedentary (S)	0.081	0.003	0.075
exercised (E)	0.585	0.110	0.694
IGF-I			
S and E	-0.242	0.241	-0.414
sedentary (S)	-0.350	0.245	-0.166
exercised (E)	-0.314	0.152	-0.265

Per μg protein

Per mg tissue

Receptor	Receptor Growth rate		Tumor weight
Estrogen			
S and E	0.175	0.008	0.188
sedentary (S)	0.346	-0.108	-0.229
exercised (E)	-0.360	-0.118	-0.453
IGF-I			
S and E	-0.207	0.234	0.017
sedentary (S)	0.675	0.066	0.314
exercised (E)	-0.338	0.109	-0.252

Table 6.3. Correlation coefficients (r values) for receptor content vs. each of the parameters growth rate, tumor latency and tumor weight.

IGF-I receptor number was significantly lower in tumors greater than 3 grams compared to those that were under 3 grams (Table 6.2). The correlation analysis (r=-.414) supports this data showing an increased tumor size with decreased number of IGF-I receptors (per μ g protein) (Table 6.3). This effect was lost when normalizing for the amount of mammary gland tissue. Tumors from sedentary and exercised rats showed a negative correlation with respect to IGF-I receptor number and growth rate when receptor number was expressed per μ g protein (figure 6.3). However, when normalized for tumor weight, tumors from sedentary rats revealed a strong positive correlation and tumors from exercised rats a weaker negative correlation (Table 6.3).



growth rate

Figure 6.2. Estrogen receptor number vs. growth rate in tumors from sedentary and exercised rats.



growth rate

Figure 6.3. IGF-I receptor content vs. growth rate in tumors from sedentary and exercised rats.

6.4 Discussion

To our knowledge, this study is the first to identify IGF-I receptors in NMU induced mammary tumors. It is also the first time western blot analysis has been used to study estrogen receptors in these tumors. The potential presence of three isoforms of the estrogen receptor in tumor tissue agrees with literature on human breast tumors. When compared on a per μ g basis, mammary tumors from exercised rats had a stronger correlation between estrogen receptor number and growth rate than sedentary rats, whereas the correlation between IGF-I receptor content and growth rate was negative for both groups.

We compared receptor content in selected sedentary tumors and normal tissue from age matched controls. An antibody directed against the IGF-I α subunit detected a protein with a molecular weight of approximately 130 kDa in both the normal mammary tissue and mammary tumors. The receptor levels were significantly increased in the tumors. One would expect the tumors to have increased IGF-I receptor and estrogen receptor contents compared to normal mammary tissue. The relative amount of epithelial cells is considerably higher in the tumor samples. Of significance in this study is the presence of both IGF-I receptor and estrogen receptor in normal mammary gland tissue and NMU induced tumors. The functionality of the receptor needs to be assessed. The IGF-I receptor has at least three functions: 1) binding of ligand 2) autophosphorylation and 3) downstream signaling. Any one of these may be dysfunctional leading to a receptor that is constitutively turned on or off. Nevertheless, identifying the presence and increased content of the IGF-I receptor in NMU induced tumors is important for further studies utilizing this model to study growth factor involvement in breast cancer.

Breast cancer is a hormone responsive disease. The advantage of using the NMU model is that tumors are hormone responsiveness (Welsch 1985). Estrogen receptors have been characterized in rat mammary NMU tumors using 17β ³H estradiol receptor binding (Arafah et al. 1980; Turcot-Lemay and Kelly 1980; Manni et al. 1982). In competitive binding assays 17β estradiol is ten fold more active than estriol and estrone, whereas testosterone and progesterone are not competitive (Turcot-Lemay and Kelly 1980). The apparent K_D was calculated as 0.42 ± 0.05 nM (Turcott-Lemay and Kelly 1980). We used western blots to determine the content of estrogen receptors in NMU induced mammary tumors and normal mammary gland tissue. Estrogen receptor levels were upregulated in tumor samples compared to normal mammary tissue. Protein bands were detected at 69, 75 and 81 kDa. These same three isoforms have been identified in human breast tumors (Puddefoot et al. 1993). They have corresponding pI values of 6.3, 6.8 and 6.6 respectively (Puddefoot et al. 1993). Estrogen receptor variants of 50 and 65 kDa have been identified in the Grunder mouse model system (Sluyser et al. 1993). Breast tumors can be classified as hormone dependent (HD) hormone responsive (HR) or hormone independent (HI). Hormone independence and a low correlation between estrogen receptor content and hormone response in some cases may be explained by the presence of estrogen receptor variants which are either mutated or deleted and are constitutively activated (Sluyser and Mester 1985). Human tumors are identified as estrogen receptor positive or negative by the binding assay. However, this assay does not detect receptors that are present but cannot bind ligand. Their signaling function may still be active. In the Grunder mouse model, when HD tumors became HI, the presence of the 50 kDa protein is increased relative to the 65 kDa (Sluyser et al. 1993). There is no difference in affinity for estradiol in estrogen receptors from HD and HI, suggesting that the 50 kDa has intact binding domain (Sluyser et al. 1993). A number of variant receptor mRNAs have also been identified (reviewed in Auchus and Fuqua 1994).

IGF-I and estrogen receptor levels were similar in tumors derived from sedentary and exercised rats when expressed per μ g protein. However, when normalized for total protein content, the exercised group contained significantly less receptor number. This was reflected in the higher protein yield tumors from sedentary rats. The results for estrogen receptor (expressed per μ g protein) are in accordance with those of Cohen et al., who used voluntary access to a training wheel (Cohen et al. 1993). Cohen found no difference in receptor number using the 17 β ³H estradiol receptor binding assay. In terms of energy balance, exercise training (energy expenditure) is equal to energy restriction. Low fat diets have been shown to reduce mammary tumorigenesis. However, studies looking at high vs.

113

low fat diets show no difference between the groups in terms of estrogen receptor levels (Mizukami et al. 1992; Kumaki and Noguchi 1990).

Of particular interest is the fact that there are differences in the expression of estrogen receptor and IGF-I receptor in tumors obtained from either sedentary or exercised rats. The exercise program is terminated months before the tumors are removed and analyzed for receptor status. This suggests that the exercise may have an imprinting effect on the phenotype of the tumor. Specifically, the exercise may expose the mammary gland to a different endocrine/paracrine milieu which affects the phenotype of the epithelial cells which are subsequently exposed to a carcinogen.

Because IGF-I and estrogen exert mitogenic effects, we wanted to determine if there was a correlation between receptor levels and tumor parameters such as tumor growth rate, weight and latency. Because there was no difference in receptor concentration between tumors derived from sedentary and exercised rats (per μ g protein), the tumors were pooled together.

By comparing the receptor levels in tumors weighing less than 3 grams versus those more than three, there was a significantly greater number of IGF-I receptors in the smaller tumors. This was reflected in the weak negative correlation coefficient (r=-.242), suggesting that as tumor size increased the number of IGF-I receptor decreased. Perhaps there is a move towards IGF-I independence as the tumors grow. IGF-I independence in a subset of rat tumors has been shown (Ethier et al. 1990). For estrogen receptor levels, tumors from exercised rats show a much stronger correlation than sedentary tumors with respect to growth rate and tumor weight. These results, along with the differences in growth rates and tumor weights, suggest the presence of heterogeneic tumors in the sedentary and exercised rats which respond to different factors and/or hormones.

Chapter VII General Discussion and Conclusions

The work in this thesis revealed a number of novel findings regarding 1) the NMU induced mammary tumorigenesis model, 2) exercise prior to carcinogen administration and its subsequent effect on tumor development and 3) IGF-I receptors and estrogen receptors in NMU induced mammary tumors. The NMU model requires the iv. or ip. administration of NMU, an alkylating agent, to the rat. We conducted experiments to determine the distribution and binding patterns of NMU. As the NMU dose administered was increased, the amount of NMU/metabolites circulating in the blood and mammary gland DNA methylation increased. Doubling the amount of NMU administered resulted in 4 times as much NMU bound to DNA. The amount of DNA damage did not increase with increasing doses of NMU. However, increasing the dose from 37.5 mg NMU/kg to 50 mg NMU/kg resulted in an increase in the total number of tumors and an increase in the multiplicity observed. The increases were not as dramatic as those seen with the DNA methylation. Other factors such as DNA repair must play a role in determining tumor outcome. The amount of DNA methylation and the DNA damage induced by NMU was significantly less in abdominal mammary glands compared to thoracic and inguinal mammary glands. Although we can not distinguish between tumors arising from abdominal and inguinal mammary glands, in general we observed more tumors in the thoracic glands than the abdominal and inguinal mammary glands. By identifying the different properties of mammary glands depending on location we can hypothesize why differences are observed in tumor location in the human breast. One possibility is that different regions of the breast are more susceptible to carcinogen binding and DNA damage. The fact that the mammary glands have different properties depending on their location is an important consideration when choosing to study only one gland or set of glands. One example is using thoracic mammary glands for proliferation studies and inguinal glands for whole mounts.

Exercise prior to NMU administration altered mammary tumorigenesis in a somewhat dose dependent manner. Decreased tumor multiplicity was observed in exercised rats injected with 50 mg NMU/kg but not with 37.5 mg NMU/kg. Exercise did not affect tumor incidence or latency period at either dose. Tumor growth rate and final tumor size were significantly increased in exercised rats at a dose of 37.5 mg NMU/kg. Four weeks of moderate intensity exercise during peripuberty had no effect on mammary gland development in terms of altering the differentiation of terminal end buds into alveolar buds. Exercise did increase the proliferation rate of mammary gland lobuloalveolar cells at all intensities and/or durations of the treadmill running. The increased proliferation rate did not correspond to increased DNA damage induced by NMU as there was no difference in nick translation activity in mammary epithelial cells of sedentary and exercised rats. These results support the hypothesis of Russo et al. (1982) that cells in the TEBs and not lobuloalveolar cells are the targets of carcinogen attack.

IGF-I receptors and estrogen receptors were identified in normal and tumor mammary tissue. The receptor content was significantly increased in the tumors suggesting IGF-I receptors and estrogen receptors may play a role in tumorigenesis. Analysis of the estrogen receptor identified 3 potential isoforms. The functionality of the 3 isoforms is unknown. Tumors from sedentary and exercised animals appear to be heterogeneous. The total protein yield is decreased in tumors from exercised animals resulting in decreased IGF-I receptor and estrogen receptor content per mg tissue. Tumors from exercised rats showed a stronger correlation between estrogen receptor content and growth rate. This may explain the faster tumor growth rate observed in exercise animals. Tumors from exercised animals may be more dependent on estrogen receptors and hence estrogen. There are limitations to the rat NMU induced mammary tumorigenesis model. NMU induced mammary tumors do not metastasize unlike human breast tumors. *Ha-ras* plays an apparent role in the rat NMU model, however it is not significant in human breast cancer. The role of prolactin in more pronounced in the rat model than in human breast cancer. Finally, the lifespan of a rat is condensed into 2 years making extrapolations to humans more difficult.

7.1 Future Directions

A number of interesting new areas of research arise from the results of our studies. We have investigated the distribution and binding patterns of NMU after an ip. injection. Investigators use both iv. and ip. injections to induce mammary tumors with similar success. Similar experiments need to be conducted after iv. injection. NMU is an alkylating agent which transfers a methyl group to the base of a nucleotide. The next logical step would be to assess methylation of various nucleotides at different doses of NMU. The binding of NMU to DNA increased with increasing dose of NMU, however, DNA damage did not increase. The effect of varying the dose of NMU administered on DNA repair capacity needs to be addressed.

We have observed subtle effects of exercise prior to NMU administration on tumor development whereas other investigators who have exercised their animals through the initiation phase have observed a more profound effect (Yedinak 1988; Thompson 1994). A timecourse study implementing exercise at various times over the course of carcinogen administration would determine when exercise is most effective. Because of the apparent differences in the effects of exercise on NMU and DMBA induced tumors observed by Thompson (1994), one should look at the effects of exercise on the metabolism of DMBA. Increased caloric consumption is associated with increased mammary tumorigenesis (Welsch 1992). Our exercised rats increased their food intake even after the cessation of exercise. It is of interest to determine if the increased food intake counterbalanced effects of increased energy expenditure due to exercise. This question could be addressed by the addition of 2 control groups, an exercise group whose caloric intake is matched with the sedentary ad libitum group, and a sedentary group whose caloric intake is matched with the exercise ad libitum group.

We identified IGF-I receptors in the normal mammary gland and in mammary tumors. The IGF-I receptor has three functions- binding of the ligand, autophosphorylation and triggering downstream events. The functionality of the IGF-I receptor in normal mammary gland and NMU induced tumors needs to be assessed in terms of the forementioned functions. The detection of three protein bands with the anti-estrogen receptor antibody suggest the presence of three isoforms of the estrogen. The question that arises is can all 3 isoforms bind estrogen and act as transcriptional activators?

We observed different growth rates in tumors derived from exercised and sedentary rats. There was a stronger correlation between growth rate and estrogen receptor content in tumors from exercised rats. Additionally, in both groups there was a negative correlation between IGF-I receptor content and growth rate. One needs to assess how the two types of tumors (sedentary vs. exercised) respond to various hormones and/or growth factors. Secondly, the response to hormones/growth factors over the range of growth rates need to be assessed.

References

Albanes D. and Winick M. Are cell number and cell proliferation risk factors for cancer? Journal Natl. Cancer Inst. 80: 772-774, 1988.

American Joint Committee on Cancer. In: Manual for Staging of Cancer 3rd ed. pp. 145-148, 1988.

Anisimov V.N. Effect of age on dose response relationship in carcinogenesis induced by single administration of N-nitrosomethylurea in female rats. J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol. 114: 628-635, 1988.

Arafah B.M., Gullino P.M., Manni A. and Pearson OH. Effect of ovariectomy on hormone receptors and growth of N-nitrosomethylurea-induced mammary tumors in the rat. Cancer Res. 40: 4628-4630, 1980.

Arena B., Maffulli N., Maffulli F. and Morleo M.A. Reproductive hormones and menstrual changes with exercise in female athletes. Sports Med. 19: 278-287, 1995.

Armstrong B. and Doll R. Environmental factors and cancer incidence and mortality in different countries, with special reference to dietary practices. Int. J. Cancer 15: 617-631, 1975.

Arts C.J.M., Govers C.A., van den Berg H. and Thijssen J.H. Effects of wheat bran and energy restriction on onset of puberty, cell proliferation and development of mammary tissue in female rats. Acta Endocrinologica 126: 451-459, 1992.

Auchus R.J. and Fuqua S.A.W. The oestrogen receptor. Bailliere's Clin. Endo.Metab. 8: 433-449, 1994.

Baker E.R., Mathur R.S., Kirk R.F. and Williamson HO. Female runners and secondary amenorrhea: correlation with age, parity, mileage, and plasma hormonal and sex-hormone-binding globulin concentrations. Fertil. Steril. 36: 183-187, 1981.

Baniahmad A., Burris T.P. and Tsai M.J. The nuclear hormone receptor superfamily. In: Mechanism of steroid hormone regulation of gene transcription ed: Tsai M.J. and O'Malley P.W. pp 1-24, 1994.

Benjamin H., Storkson J. and Pariza M.W. Effect of voluntary exercise on mammary tumor development. FASEB J. 2:A1191, 1988.

Berenblum I. A speculative review: the probable nature of promoting action, its significance in the understanding of the mechanism of carcinogenesis. Cancer Res. 14: 471-476, 1976.

Bernstein L., Ross R.K., Lobo R.A., Hanisch R., Krailo M.D. and Henderson B.E. The effects of moderate physical activity on menstrual cycle patterns in adolescence: implications for breast cancer prevention. Br. J. Cancer 55: 681-685, 1987.

Bonen A., Haynes F.J., Watson-Wright W., Sopper M.M., Pierce G.N., Low M.P. and Graham T.E. Effects of menstrual cycle and diet on metabolic responses to exercise. J. Appl. Phys. 55: 1506-1513, 1983.

Bonen A., Ling W.Y., MacIntyre K.P., Neil R., McGrail J.C. and Belcastro A.N. Effects of exercise on serum concentrations of FSH, LH, progesterone and estradiol. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. Occup. Physiol. 42: 15-23, 1979.

Bonneterre J., Peyrat J.P., Beuscart R. and Demaille A. Prognostic significance of insulin-like growth factor 1 receptors in human breast cancer. Cancer Res. 50: 6931-6935, 1990.

Borellini F. and Oka T. Growth control and differentiation in mammary epithelial cells. Environ. Health Pers. 80: 85-99, 1989.

Bots G.T.A.M. and Willighagen R.G.J. Tumors in the mammary gland induced in Lewis rats by intravenous methylnitrosourea. Br. J. Cancer 31: 372-374, 1975.

Boyden T.W., Pamenter R.W., Stanforth P., Rotkis T.C. and Wilmore J.H. Impaired gonadotropin responses to gonaotropin releasing hormone stimulation in endurance trained women. Fertil. Steril. 41: 359-363, 1984.

Boyden T.W., Parmenter R.W., Grosso D., Stanforth P., Rotkis T. and Wilmore J.H. Prolactin responses menstrual cycles and body composition of women runners. J. Clin. Endo. Metab. 54: 711-714, 1982.

Brisson G.R., Volle M.A., DeCarufel D., Desharnais M. and Tanaka M. Exercise induced dissociation of the blood prolactin response in young women according to their sports habits. Horm. Metab. Res. 12: 201-205, 1980.

Buell P. Changing incidence of breast cancer in Japanese American women. Journal Natl. Cancer Inst. 51: 1479-1483, 1973.

Bullen B.A., Skrinar G.S., Beitins I.Z., Carr D.B., Reppert S.M., Dotson C.O., Fencl M.D., Gervino E.V. and McArthur J.W. Endurance training effects on plasma hormonal responsiveness and sex hormone excretion. J. Appl. Physiol. 56: 1453-1463, 1984.

Campbell P.G., Skaar T.C., Vega J.R. and Baumrucker C.R. Secretion of insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) and IGF binding proteins from bovine mammary tissue in vitro. J. Endocrinol. 128: 219-228, 1991.

Carlberg K.A. and Fregly M.J. Disruption of estrous cycles in exercise trained rats. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 179: 21-24, 1985.

Chang F.E., Dodds W.G., Sullivan M., Kim M.H. and Malarkey W.B. The acute effects of exercise on prolactin and growth hormone secretion: comparison between sedentary women and women runners with normal and abnormal menstrual cycles. J. Clin. Endo. Metab. 62: 551-556, 1986.

Chatterton Jr. R.T., Hartman A.L., Lynn D.E. and Hickson R.E. Exercise-induced ovarian dysfunction in the rat. Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med. 193: 220-224, 1990.

Chen J., Campbell T.C., Li J. and Peto R. Diet, lifestyle and mortality in China: a study of the characteristics of 65 Chinese counties. Oxford, England: Oxford University Press. p. 750, 1990.

Cohen L.A., Choi K., Backlund J.Y., Harris R. and Wang C.X. Modulation of Nnitrosomethylurea induced mammary tumorigenesis dy dietary fat and voluntary exercise. In Vivo 5: 333-344, 1991.

Cohen L.A., Kendall M.E., Meschter C., Epstein M.A., Reinhardt J. and Zang E. Inhibition of rat mammary tumorigenesis by voluntary exercise. In Vivo 7: 151-158, 1993.

Cohen LA., Choi K. and Wang C.X. Influence of dietary fat, caloric restriction, and voluntary exercise on N-Nitrosomethylurea induced mammary tumorigenesis in rats. Cancer Res. 48: 4276-4283, 1988.

Cotran R.S., Kumar V., Robbins S. The Breast. In: Robbins Pathologic Basis of Disease W.B. Saunders Co. Philadelphia pp1181-1204, 1989.

Coulam C.B., Annegers J.F. and Kranz J.S. Chronic anovulation syndrome and associated neoplasia. Obstetrics and Gynecology 61: 403-407, 1983.

Cullen K.J., Allison A., Martire I., Ellis M. and Singer C. Insulin-like growth factor expression in breast cancer epithelium and stroma. Br. Cancer Res. Treat. 22: 21-29, 1992.

Cullen K.J., Yee D., Sly W.S., Perdue J., Hampton B., Lippman M.E. and Rosen N. Insulin like growth factor receptor expression and function in human breast cancer. Cancer Res. 50: 48-53, 1990. Cumming D.C., Vickovic M.M., Wall S.R., Fluker M.R. and Belcastro A.N. Defects of pulsatile LH release in normally menstruating runners. J. Clin. Endocrin. Metabl. 60: 810-812, 1985b.

Cumming D.C., Vickovic M.M., Wall S.R. et al. The effect of acute exericse on pulsatile release of luteinising hormone in women runners. Am. J. Obst. Gynecol. 153: 482-485, 1985a.

D'Ecrole A.J., Stiles A.D. and Underwood L.E. Tissue concentrations of somatomedin C: further evidence for multiple sites of synthesis and paracrine or autocrine mechanisms of action. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 81: 935-939, 1984.

Darbre P.D. and King R.J.B. Steroid hormone regulation of cultured breast cancer cells. In: Lippman M.E. and Dickson R.B. (eds). Breast Cancer: Cellular and Molecular Biology. Kluwer Academic, Boston, pp 307-341, 1988.

Davidoff A.M., Herndon J.E., Glover N.S., Kerns B.J., Pence J.C., Iglehart J.D. and Marks J.R. Relation between p53 overexpression and established prognostic factors in breast cancer. Surgery 110: 259-264, 1991.

De Leon D.D., Bakker B., Wilson D.M., Hintz R.L. and Rosenfeld R.G. Demonstration of insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1 and 2) receptors and binding protein in human breast cancer cell lines. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 152: 398-405, 1988.

De Meirleir K.L., Bayens L., L'Hermite-Baleriaux M., L'Hermite M and Hollmann W. Exercise induced prolactin release is related to anaerobiosis. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 60: 1250-1252, 1985. De Souza M.J., Maguire M.S., Maresh C.M., Kraemer W.J., Rubin K.R. and Loucks A.B. Adrenal activation and the prolactin response to exercise in eumenorrheic and amenorrheic runners. J. Appl. Physiol. 70(6): 2378-2387, 1991.

Dickson R.B. and Lippman M.E. Control of human breast cancer by estrogen, growth factors, and oncogenes. In: Lippman M.E. and Dickson R.B. (eds). Breast Cancer: Cellular and Molecular Biology. Kluwer Academic, Boston, pp 119-165, 1988.

Eldridge S.R., Tilbury L.F., Goldsworthy T.L. and Butterworth B.E. Measurement of chemically induced cell proliferation in rodent liver and kidney: a comparison of 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine and [³H] thymidine administered by injection or osmotic pump. Carcinogenesis 11: 2345-2351, 1990.

Erich W.B., Peltenberg A.L., Minkhorst J., Van Dessel B., Bernink M.J., Biersteker-Hubben M.W., Zonderland M.L. and Huisveld I.A. The influence of physical exericse on growth and sexual maturation in young female rats. Growth 49: 131- 140, 1985.

Ethier S.P., Chiodino C. and Jones R.F. Role of growth factor synthesis in the acquisition of insulin/insulin-like growth factor I independence in rat mammary carcinoma cells. Cancer Res. 50: 5351-5357, 1990.

Evans W.S., Gronin M.J., Thorner M.O. Hypogonadism in hyperprolactinaemia: proposed mechanisms. In: Ganong W.F., Martini L., editors. Frontiers in Endocrinology, New York: Raven, vol. 7: 77-159, 1982. Feicht C.B., Johnson T.S., Martin B.J., Sparkes K.E. and Wagner W.W. Jr. Secondary amenorrhea in athletes (correspondence) Lancet 2: 1145-1146, 1978.

Flier J.S., Usher P. and Moses A.C. Monoclonal antibody to the type I insulin like growth factor receptor blocks IGF-I receptor mediated DNA synthesis: Clarification of the mitogenic mechanisms of IGF-I and insulin in human skin fibroblasts. Proc. Nat. Acad. of Sciences. 83: 664-668, 1986.

Foekens J.A., Portengen H.J., Van Putten W.L.J., Trapman A.M., Reubi J.C., Alexieva-Figusch J and Klijn J.G. Prognostic value of receptors for insulin-like growth factor I, somatostatin and epidermal growth factor in human breast cancer. Cancer Res. 49: 7002-7009, 1989.

Foekens J.A., Portengen M., Janssen M. and Klijn J.G. Insulin like growth factor I receptor and insulin like growth factor I activity in primary human breast cancer. Cancer 63: 2139-2147, 1989.

Ford D. and Esaton D.F. The genetics of breast and ovarian cancer. Review. Br. J. Cancer 72: 805-812, 1995.

Frei J.V. and Harsano T. Increased susceptibility to low doses of carcinogen of epidermal cells in stimulated DNA synthesis. Cancer Res. 27: 1482-1491, 1967.

Freiss G., Rochefort H., Vignon F. Mechanism of 4-hydroxytamoxifen anti-growth factor activity in breast cancer cells: alterations of growth factor receptor binding sites and tyrosine kinase activity. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 173: 919-926, 1990.

Frisch R.E., Gotz-Welbergen A.V., McArthur J.W., Albright T., Witschi J., Bullen B., Birnholz J., Reed R.B. and Hermann H. Delayed menarche and amenorrhea of college athletes in relation to age of onset of training. JAMA 246: 1559-1563, 1981.

Frisch R.E., Wyshak G., Albright N.L., Albright T.E., Schiff I., Jones K.P., Witschi J., Shiang E., Koff E. and Marguglio M. Lower prevalence of breast cancer and cancers of the reproductive system among former college athletes compared to non athletes. Br. J. Cancer 52: 885-891, 1985.

Frisch R.E., Wyshak G., Albright N.L., Albright T.E., Schiff I., Witschi J. and Marguglio M. Lower prevalence of breast cancer and cancers of the reproductive system among former college athletes. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 45: 328-335, 1987.

Furlanetto R.W. and DeCarlo J.N. Somatomedin-C receptors and growth effects in human breast cells maintained in long term tissue culture. Cancer Res. 44: 2122-2128, 1984.

Greene J.W. Exercise induced menstrual irregularities. Comprehensive Therapy 19(3): 116-120, 1993.

Gullino P.M., Pettigrew H.M. and Grantham F.H. N-nitrosomethylurea as mammary gland carcinogen in rats. Journal Natl. Cancer Inst. 54: 401-409, 1975.

Hale R.W., Kosasa T., Krieger J. and Pepper S. A marathon: the immediate effect on female runners' luteinizing hormone, follicle stimulating hormone, prolactin, testosterone and cortisol levels. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 146: 550-556, 1983.

Harris J.R., Lippman M.E., Veronesi U. and Willett W. Breast Cancer. New Engl. J. Med. 327(5) 319-328, 1992.

Henderson B.E., Ross R.K. and Bernstein L. Estrogens as a cause of human cancer: the Richard and Hinda Rosenthal Foundation award lecture. Cancer Res. 48: 246-253, 1988.

Henderson B.E., Ross R.K., Judd H.L., Krailo M.D. and Pike M.C. Do regular ovulatory cycles increase breast cancer risk? Cancer 56: 1206-1208, 1985.

Hoffman-Goetz L. and Husted J. Exercise and breast cancer: review and critical analysis of the literature. Can. J. Appl. Physiol. 19(3): 237-252, 1994.

Hoffman-Goetz L. and MacDonald M. Effect of treadmill exercise on food intake and body weight in lean and obese rats. Physiol. Behav. 31: 343-346, 1983.

Huff K.K., Kaufman D., Gabbay K.J., Spencer E.M., Lippman M.E. and Dickson R.B. Human breast cancer cells secrete an insulin-like growth factor I-related polypeptide. Cancer Res. 46: 4613-4619, 1986.

Humbel R.E. Insulin like growth factors I and II. Eur. J. Biochem. 190: 445-462, 1990.

Imagawa W., Bandyopadhyay G.K. and Nandi S. Regulation of mammary epithelial cell growth in mice and rats. Endocrine Reviews 11: 494-523, 1990.

Ip C. Quantitative assessment of fat and calories as risk factors in mammary tumorigenesis in an experimental model. In: Mettlin C.J., Aoki K. eds. Recent progress in research on

nutrition and Cancer vol. 346 of Progress in Clinical and Biological Research. New York, Wiley-Liss, pp. 107-117, 1990.

Jones G.E.S. Some newer aspects of the management of infertility. JAMA 141: 1123-1129, 1949.

Jurkowski J.E., Jones N.L., Walker W.C., Younglai E.V. and Sutton J.R. Ovarian hormonal responses to exercise. J. Appl. Phys. 44: 109-114, 1978.

Kakunaga T. The role of cell division in the malignant transformation of mouse cells treated with 3-methylcholanthrene. Cancer Res. 35: 1637-1642, 1975.

Karey K.P. and Sirbasku D.A. Differential responsiveness of human breast cancer cell lines MCF-7 and T47-D to growth factors and 17- β estradiol. Cancer Res. 48: 4083-4092, 1988.

Kiess W., Haskell J.F., Lee L., Greenstein L.A., Miller B.E., Aarons A.L., Rechler M.M. and Nissley S.P. An antibody that blocks insulin-like growth factor (IGF) binding to the type II IGF receptor is neither an agonist nor an inhibitor of IGF-stimulated biologic responses in L6 myoblasts. J. Biol. Chem. 262: 12745-12751, 1987.

Keizer H.A., Beckers E., DesHaan J., Janssen G.M., Kuipers H., van Kranenburg G and Geurten P. Exercise induced changes in the percentage of free testosterone and estradiol in trained and untrained women. Int. J. Sports. Med. 8: 151-155, 1987.
Keizer H.A., Poortman J. and Bunnik G.S.J. Influence of physical exercise on sexhormone metabolism. J. Appl. Physiol.: Respirat. Environ. Exercise Physiol. 48: 765-769, 1980.

Keizer H.A., Van Schaik f.W., DeBeer E.L. et al. Exercise-induced changes in estradiol metabolism and their possible physiological meaning. Med. Sport. Basel. 14: 125-140, 1981.

Kelly R.B., Cozzarelli N.R., Deutscher M.P., Lehman J.R. and Kornberg A. Enzymatic synthesis of deoxyribonucleic acid. XXXII. Replication of duplex DNA by polymerase at a single strand break. J. Biol. Chem. 245: 39-45, 1970.

Kindermann W., Schnabel A., Schmitt W.M., Biro G., Cassens J. and Weber F. Catecholamines, growth hormone, cortisol, insulin and sex hormones in anaerobic and aerobic exercise. Eur. J. Appl. Phys. 49: 389-399, 1982.

Kleinberg D.L., Ruan W.F., Catanese V, Mewman C.B. and Feldman M. Non-lactogenic effects of growth hormone on growth and insulin-like growth factor-I messanger ribonucleic acid of rat mammary gland. Endocrinology 126: 3274-3276, 1990.

Kohl H.W., LaPorte R.E., Blair S.N. Physical activity and cancer: An epidemiological perspective. Sports Medicine 6: 222-237, 1988.

Krywicki R.F. and Yee D.R. The insulin-like growth factor family of ligands, receptors and binding proteins. Br. Cancer Res. and Treat. 22: 7-19, 1992.

Kumaki T. Noguchi M. Effects of high dietary fat on the total DNA and receptor contents in rats with 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene-induced mammary carcinoma. Oncology. 47(4):352-8, 1990.

Kumar R., Sukumar S. and Barbacid M. Activation of ras oncogenes preceding the onset of neoplasia. Science 248:1101-1104, 1990.

Lane H.W., Teer P., Keith R.E., White M.T. and Strahan S. Reduced energy intake and moderate exercise reduce mammary tumor incidence in virgin female BALB/c mice treated with 7,12 dimethylbenz[a]anthracene. J. Nutrition 121: 1883-1888, 1991.

Layman D.K., Paisley E. and Yedinak R. Interactions of dietary fat, exercise, and DMBA levels in mammary tumorigenesis. FASEB J. 4:A1176, 1990.

Lok E., Scott F.W., Mongeau R., Nera E.A., Malcolm S. and Clayson D.B. Calorie restriction and cellular proliferation in various tissues of the female Swiss Webster mouse. Cancer Lett. 51: 67-73, 1990.

Loucks A.B. and Horvath S.M. Endocrine status of amenorrheic and eumenorrheic runners: responses to exercise. Med. Sci. Sport Ex. 16:118, 1984.

Lowe Jr. W.L. Biological actions of insulin-like growth factors. In: LeRoith D. ed. Insulin-like Growth Factors: Molecular and Cellular Aspects. CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp 49-86, 1991. Maguire H.C., Hellman M.E., Greene M.I. and Yeh L. Expression of c-erbB-2 in *in situ* and in adjacent invasive ductal adenocarcinomas of the female breast. Pathobiology 60: 117-121, 1992.

Malarkey W.B., Schroeder L.L., Stevens V.C., James A.G. and Lanese R.R. Disordered nocturnal prolactin regulation in women with breast cancer. Cancer Res. 37: 4650-4654, 1977.

Malina R.M., Harper A.B., Avent H.H. Age at menarche in athletes and nonathletes. Med. Sci. Sports Ex. 5: 11-13, 1973.

Malina R.M., Spirduso W.W., Tate C. and Baylor A.M. Age at menarche and selected menstrual characteristics in athletes at different competitive levels and in different sports. Med. Sci. Sports 10:218, 1978.

Manni A. Rainieri J. Arafah B.M., Finegan H.M. and Pearson O.H. Role of estrogen and prolactin in the growth and receptor levels of N-nitrosomethylurea-induced rat mammary tumors. Cancer Research. 42(9):3492-5, 1982.

Manni A., Trujillo J.E. and Pearson O.H. Predominant role of prolactin in stimulating growth of 7,12 dimethylbenz[a]anthracene-induced rat mammary tumor. Cancer Res. 37: 1216-1219, 1977.

Margison G.P. and O'Connor P.J. Nucleic acid modification by N-nitrosocompounds. in: Grover P.L. (ed.) Chemical Carcinogens and DNA. vol. I. pp. 111-159, 1978. Marquardt H., Baker S., Tierney B., Grover P.L. and Sims P. Comparison of mutagenesis and malignant transformation by dihydrodiols of 7,12-dimethylbenz[a]anthracene. Br. J. Cancer 39: 540-547, 1979.

Mayer G., Wessel J.and Kobberling J. Failure of naloxone to alter exercise induced growth hormone and prolactin release in normal men. Clin. Endo. 13: 413-416, 1980.

M^cCormick D.L., Adamowski C.B., Fiks A. and Moon R.C. Lifetime dose response relationships for mammary tumor induction by a single administration of N-methyl-N-nitrosourea. Cancer Research 41: 1690-1694, 1981.

McGrath M.F., Collier R.J., Clemmons D.R., Busby W.H., Sweeny C.A. and Krivi G.G. The direct *in vitro* effect of insulin-like growth factors (IGFs) on normal bovine mammary cell proliferation and production of IGF binding proteins. Endocrinology 129: 671-678, 1991.

Meyer J.S. Cell Proliferation in normal human breast ducts, fibroadenomas, and other ductal hyperplasias measured by nuclear labeling with tritiated thymidine. Effects of menstrual phase, age and oral contraceptive hormones. Human Path. 8:67, 1977.

Miller W.R. Oestrogens and breast cancer: biological considerations. Br. Med. Bull. 47: 470-483, 1990.

Mizukami Y. Nonomura A. Noguchi M., Taniya T., Thomas M., Nakamura S. and Miyazaki L. Effects of high and low dietary fat and indomethacin on tumor growth, hormone receptor status and growth factor expression in DMBA-induced rat breast cancer. International Journal of Tissue Reactions. 14(6):269-76, 1992. Moon R.C., Grubbs C.J., Sporn M.B. and Goodman D.G. Retinyl acetate inhibits mammary carcinogenesis induced by N-methyl-nitrosourea. Nature 267: 620-621, 1977.

Mullaart E., Lohman P.H.M., Berends F. and Vijg J. DNA damage metabolism and aging. Mutation Research 237: 189-210, 1990.

Murphy L.J., Bell G.I. and Friesen H.G. Tissue distribution of insulin-like growth factor I and II messenger ribonucleic acid in the adult rat. Endocrinology 120: 1279-1282, 1987.

Musey V.C., Collins D.C., Musey P.I., Martino-Saltzman D and Preedy J.R. Long term effects of a first pregnancy on the secretion of prolactin. New Engl. J. Med. 316: 229-334, 1987.

Myles G.M. and Sancar A. DNA repair. Chem. Res. Toxicol. 2: 197-226, 1989.

Nose K. and Okamoto H. Detection of carcinogen induced DNA breaks by nick translation in permeable cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 111: 383-389, 1983.

Osborne C.K., Coronado E.B., Kitten L.J., Arteaga C.L., Fuqua S.A., Ramasharma K., Marshall M. and Li C.H. Insulin-like growth factor-II (IGF-II): a potential autocrine/paracrine growth factor for human breast cancer acting via the IGF1 receptor. Mol. Endo. 3: 1701-1709, 1989.

Paffenbarger R.S., Hyde R.T. and Wing A.L. Physical activity and incidence of cancer in diverse populations: a preliminary report. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 45: 312-317, 1987.

Parham D.M. and Jankowski J. Transforming growth factor- α in epithelial proliferative diseases of the breast. J. Clin. Path. 45: 513-516, 1992.

Park C.S., Baik M.G., Keller W.L. and Slanger W.D. Dietary energy restriction-mediated growth and mammary development in rats. J. Anim. Sci. 72: 2319-2324, 1994.

Parker M.G., Arbuckle N., Dauvois S., Danielian P. and White R. Structure and function of the estrogen receptor. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 684: 119-126 1993.

Pekonen F., Partanen S., Makinen T. and Rutanen E.M. Receptors for epidermal growth factor and insulin-like growth factor I and their relation to steroid receptors in human breast cancer. Cancer Res. 48: 1343-1347, 1988.

Pellerin-Massicotte J., Brisson G.R., St.-Pierre C., Rioux P. and Rajotte D. Effect of exercise on the onset of puberty, gonadotropins and ovarian inhibin. J. Appl. Physiol. 63(3): 1165-1173, 1987.

Peyrat J.P. and Bonneterre J. Type I IGF receptor in human breast diseases. Br. Cancer Res. Treat. 22: 59-67, 1992.

Peyrat J.P., Bonneterre J., Beuscart R., Kjiane J. and Demaille A. Insulin-like growth factor I receptor (IGF1-R) in human breast cancer. Relation to estradiol and progesterone receptors. Cancer Res. 48: 6429-6433, 1988a.

Peyrat J.P., Bonneterre J., Dusanter-Fourt I., Leroy-Martin B., Djiane J. and Demaille A. Characterization of IGF-I receptor (IGF-I-R) in human breast cancer cell lines. Bull Cancer 76: 311-319, 1989.

Peyrat J.P., Bonneterre J., Laurent J.C., Louchez M.M., Amrani S. and Leroy-Martin B. Presence and characterization of insulin like growth factor I receptors in human benign breast disease. Eur. J. Cancer Clin. Oncol. 24: 1425-1431, 1988b.

Peyrat J.P., Jammes H., Ban E. et al. Insulin-like growth factor I receptors (IGF1-R) in human breast tumors: histo-autoradiographic analysis (HAA) and mRNA expression. Proc. Amer. Soc. Cancer Res. 31:49 (Abstr 292), 1990.

Pike M.C., Krailo M.D., Henderson B.E., Casagrande J.T. and Itoel D.G. Hormonal risk factors, breast tissue age, and the age of incidence of breast cancer. Nature 303: 767-770, 1983.

Pollak M.N., Perdue J.F., Margolese R.G., Baer K. and Richard M. Presence of somatomedin receptor on human breast and colon carcinomas. Cancer Lett. 38: 223-230, 1987.

Puddefoot JR. Baker VA. Bakkers B., Marsiglinate S., Barker S., Panahy C., Goode A.W., Carpenter R. and Vinson G.P. The nature and significance of multiple isoforms of the oestrogen receptor in breast tumors. Journal of Molecular Endocrinology. 11: 83-90, 1993.

Rolandi E., Reggiani E., Franceschini R., Bavastro G., Messina V., Odaglia G. and Barreca T. Comparison of pituitary responses to physical exercise in athletes and sedentary subjects. Horm. Res. 21: 209-213, 1985.

Rose D.P. and Noonan J.J. Influence of prolactin and growth hormone on rat mammary tumors induced by N-nitrosomethylurea. Cancer Res. 42: 35-38, 1982.

Rose D.P. and Pruitt B.T. Plasma prolactin levels in patients with breast cancer. Cancer 48: 2687-2691, 1981.

Rosen N., Yee D., Lippman M.E., Paik S. and Cullen K.J. Insulin-like growth factors in human breast cancer. Br. Cancer Res. and Treat. 18: S55-S62, 1991.

Roth R.A. Structure of the receptor for insulin-like growth factor II: the puzzle amplified. Science 239: 1269-1271, 1988.

Russo I.H. and Russo J. Hormone prevention of mammary carcinogenesis: a new approach in anticancer research. Anticancer Res. 8: 1-18, 1988.

Russo J. and Russo I.H. Biological and molecular bases of mammary carcinogenesis. Lab. Invest. 57: 112-137, 1987.

Russo J. and Russo I.H. Boundaries in mammary carcinogenesis. In: Sudilovsky O. et al. eds. Boundaries Between Promotion and Progression During Carcinogenesis. Plenum Press, New York pp. 43-59, 1991.

Russo J. and Russo I.H. Influence of differentiation and cell kinetics on the susceptibility of the mammary gland carcinogenesis. Cancer Res. 40: 2671-2687, 1980.

Russo J., Tay L.K. and Russo I.H. Differentiation of mammary gland and susceptibility to carcinogenesis. Br. Cancer Res. Treat. 2: 5-73, 1982.

Santen R.J., Manni A., Harvey H. and Redmond C. Endocrine treatment of breast cancer in women. Endocrine Rev. 11: 221-265, 1990.

Schapira D.V., Kumar N.B., Lyman G.H. and Cox C.E. Abdominal obesity and breast cancer risk. Ann. Intern. Med. 112: 182-186, 1990.

Schwartz A.G. Inhibition of spontaneous breast cancer formation in female C3H mice by long term treatment with dehydroepiandrosterone. Cancer Res. 39: 1129-1131, 1979.

Schwartz B., Cumming D.C., Riordan E., Selye M., Yen S.S. and Rebar R.W. Exercise associated amenorrhea: A distinct entity? Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 141: 662-670, 1981.

Shangold M., Freeman R., Thysen B. and Gatz M. The relationship between long distance running, plasma progesterone and midluteal phase length. Fertil. Steril. 31: 130-133, 1979.

Shangold M.M. Exercise and the adult female: hormonal and endocrine effects. In: Terjung R.L. (ed.) Ex. Sports Science Rev. 12: 53-79, 1984.

Shangold M.M., Gatz M.L. and Thysen B. Acute effects of exercise on plasma concentrations of prolactin and testosterone in recreational women runners. Fertil. Steril. 35: 699-702, 1981.

Shepard R.J. Exercise and malignancy. Sports Medicine 3: 235-241, 1986.

Shepard R.J. Physical activity and cancer. Int. J. Sports Med. 11: 413-420, 1990.

Sluyser M. and Mester J. Oncogenes homologous to steroid receptors? [letter]. Nature. 315: 546, 1985 Jun 13-19.

Sluyser M. Dantuma NP. Van Tiggelen C. and De Coeij C.C. Estrogen receptor variants in mouse mammary tumors. [Review] Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 684: 116-8, 1993.

Snead D.B., Weltman A., Weltman J.Y., Evans W.S., Veldhuis J.D., Varma M.M., Teates C.D., Dowling E.A. and Rogol A.D. Reproductive hormones and bone mineral density in women runners. J. Appl. Physiol. 72: 2149-2156, 1992.

Snyder R.D. and Matheson D.W. Nick translation-A new assay for monitoring DNA damage and repair in cultured human fibroblasts. Environmental mutagenesis 7: 267-279, 1988.

Steele-Perkins G., Turner J., Edman J.C., Hari J., Pierce S.B., Stover C., Rutter W.J. and Roth R.A. Expression and characterization of a functional human insulin like growth factor I receptor. J. Biol. Chem 263: 11482-11492, 1988.

Stewart A.J., Johnson M.D., May F.E.B. and Westley B.R. Role of insulin-like growth factors and the type I insulin-like growth factor receptor in the estrogen-stimulated proliferation of human breast cancer cells. J. Biol. Chem. 265: 21172-21178, 1990.

Sukamar S., Notario V., Martin-Zanca D. and Barbacid M. Induction of mammary carcinomas in rats by nitroso-methylurea involves malignant activation of Ha-ras-1 locus by single point mutations. Nature 306: 658-661, 1983.

Sylvester P.W., Forczek S., Ip M. and Ip C. Exercise training and the differential prolactin response in male and female rats. J. Appl. Physiol. 67(2): 804-810, 1989.

Tannock I.F. and Hill R.P. (eds) The Basic Science of Oncology. McGraw-Hill Inc. New York 1992.

Terblanche S.E. Recent advances in hormonal response to exercise. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 93B: 727-739, 1989.

Thompson H.J. Effect of amount and type of exercise on experimentally induced breast cancer. In: Jacobs M.M. (ed.) Exercise, Calories, Fat and Cancer 1992.

Thompson H.J. Effect of exercise intensity and duration on the induction of mammary carcinogenesis. Cancer Res. 54 (suppl): 1960s-1963s, 1994.

Thompson H.J. and Adlakha H. Dose responsive induction of mammary gland carcinomas by the intraperitoneal injection of 1-methyl-1-nitrosourea. Cancer Research 51: 3411-3415, 1991. Thompson H.J., Ronan A.M., Ritacco K.A., Tagliaferro A.R. and Meeker L.D. Effect of exercise on the induction of mammary carcinogenesis. Cancer Res. 48: 2720-2723, 1988.

Thompson H.J., Ronan A.M., Ritacco K.A. and Tagliaferro A.R. Effect of type and amount of dietary fat on the enhancement of rat mammary tumorigenesis by exercise. Cancer Res. 49: 1904-1908, 1989.

Topper Y.J. and Freeman C.S. Multiple hormone interactions in the developmental biology of the mammary gland. Phys. Rev. 60: 1049-1094, 1980.

Turcot-Lemay L. Kelly PA. Characterization of estradiol, progesterone, and prolactin receptors in nitrosomethylurea-induced mammary tumors and effect of antiestrogen treatment on the development and growth of these tumors. Cancer Research. 40(9):3232-40, 1980 Sep.

Ullrich A, Gray A., Tam A.W., Yang-Feng T., Tsubokawa M., Collins C., Henzel W., LeBon T., Kathuria S. and Chen E. Insulin-like growth factor I receptor primary structure: comparison with insulin receptor suggests structural determinants that define hormonal specificity. EMBO J. 5: 2503-2512, 1986.

Veldhuis J. D., Evans W.S., Demers L.M., Thorner M.O., Wakat D. and Rogol A.D. Altered neuroendocrine regulation of gonadotropin secretion in women distance runners. J. Clin. Endocrin. Metab. 61: 557-563, 1985.

Verdeal K., Rose D.P., Erturk E. and Harberg J. Induction of mammary tumors, estrous cycle abnormalities and endometrial hyperplasia in rats exposed to different doses of N-nitrosomethylurea. Eur. J. Clinical Oncol. 18(11): 1171-1180, 1982.

Vessey M.P. The involvement of oestrogen in the development and progression of breast disease: epidemiological evidence. Proc. Roy Soc Edinb 95B: 35-48, 1989.

Villee C.A., Solomon E.P. and Davis P.W. Biology. Saunders College Publishing New York, 1985.

Walker J.L., Ginalska-Malinowska M., Romer T.E., Pucilowska J.B. and Underwood L.E. Effects of the infusion of insulin-like growth factor I in a child with growth hormone insensitivity syndrome (Laron dwarfism). N. Engl. J. Med. 324: 1483-1488, 1991.

Warren M. The effects of exercise on pubertal progression and reproductive function in girls. J. Clin. Endo. Metab. 51: 1150-1157, 1980.

Weinberg R.A. Tumor suppressor genes. Science 254: 1138-1145, 1991.

Welsch C.W. Host factors affecting the growth of carcinogen induced rat mammary carcinomas: A review and tribute to Charles Benton Huggins. Cancer Research 45: 3415-3443, 1985.

Welsch C.W. Relationship between dietary fat and experimental mammary tumorigenesis: a review and critique. Cancer Res. 52 suppl: 2040s-2048s, 1992.

Welsch C.W. and O'Connor. Influence of the type of dietary fat on developmental growth of the mammary gland in immature and mature female BALB/c mice. Cancer Res. 49: 5999-6007, 1989.

Wyshak G. and Frisch R.E. Evidence for a secular trend in age of menarche. New Engl.J. Med. 306: 1033-1035, 1982.

Wyshak G., Frisch R.E., Albright N.L., Albright T.E. and Schiff L. Lower prevalence of benign diseases of the breast and benign tumors of the reproductive system among former college athletes compared to non-athletes. Br. J. Cancer 54: 841-845, 1986.

Yedinak R.A. Interactions of exercise and dietary lipids during initiation and promotion phases of 7,12-dimethylbenz(a)anthracene-induced mammary carcinogenesis. M.Sc. Thesis, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 1988.

Yee D., Paik S., Lebovic G.S., Marcus R.R., Favoni R.E., Cullen K.J., Lippman M.E. and Rosen N. Analysis of insulin-like growth factor I gene expression in malignancy: evidence for a paracrine role in human breast cancer. Mol. Endocrinol. 3: 509-517, 1989.

Young S. and Hallowes R.C. Tumors of the mammary gland. In: Turusov V.S. (ed) Pathology of Tumors in Laboratory Animals, Vol. 1. International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyons, France, pp 31-74, 1973.

Zarbl H., Sukumar S., Arthur A.V., Martin-Zanca D. and Barbacid M. Direct mutagenesis of Ha-ras-1 oncogenes by N-nitroso-N-methylurea during initiation of mammary carcinogenesis in rats. Nature 315: 382-385, 1985.

Zhang R., Haag J.D. and Gould M.N. Reduction in the frequency of activated ras oncogenes in rat mammary carcinomas with increasing N-methyl-N-nitrosourea doses or increasing prolactin levels. Cancer Res. 50: 4286-4290, 1990. Zumoff B. Hormonal profiles in women with breast cancer. Review. Anticancer Research 8: 627-636, 1988.

.